E-ISSN e-ISSN 2667-8721 Volume: 1 Issue: 3 December 2019

EURASIAN JOURNAL C CRITICAL CARE



1. Discussion of Mechanical Chest Compression Device Usage in Cardiac Arrest Cases in Hospitals in Light of Recent Literature

Yahya Kemal Günaydın, Miraç Altun, Dilber Üçöz Kocaşaban

- 2. Exposure to Infrared Light: Case Series Ayla Köksal, Cesareddin Dikmetaş, Büşra Bildik, Serkan Doğan, Dilek Atik, Başar Cander
- 3. The New Biomarkers Used in The Differentiation Between Transudate and Exudate Pleural Effusions

Turgut Teke, Kerim Yeşildağ

4. Evaluation of Infants Undergoing Cranial Computed Tomography in The Emergency Department Due to Head Trauma

Ramazan Ünal, Dilek Atik, Bensu Bulut, Ahmet Erdur, Hasan Çam, Salih Fettahoğlu, Ramazan Güven, Başar Cander

5. İnvestigation of the Efficacy of Aminoguanidine in an Experimental Rat Model with Isolated Bilateral Pulmonary Contusion Due To Blunt Thoracic Trauma

Dilek Atik, Bengü Seliman, Derya Balcı Koroğlu, Bensu Bulut, Bahadır Taşlıdere

- A Rare Trauma Complication: Pneumopericardium
 Ömür Uvanık, Muhammed Ekmekvapar, Hakan Oğuztürk, Sükrü Gürbüz,
 - Omür Uyanık, Muhammed Ekmekyapar, Hakan Oğuztürk, Şükrü Gürbüz, Ramazan Avcu
- 7. Does A Potato Threat Your Life? A Case Study Serkan Doğan, Bensu Bulut, Canan Akman, Zeynep Saral Öztürk, Ekim Sağlam Gürmen, Tarık Ocak, Başar Cander
- 8. Periorbital Air Following Sneeze Yağmur Gökhan Semerci, Cesareddin Dikmetaş, Ayla Köksal, Dilek Atik, Serkan Doğan, Duygu Yaman, Başar Cander
- **9. Bilateral Facial Paralysis Following Tooth Extraction** Dilek Atik, Cesareddin Dikmetaş, Ayla Köksal, Serkan Doğan, Ahmet Erdur, Basar Cander

10. Post Ercp Perforation

Hasan Gökçe, Muhammed Ekmekyapar, Şükrü Gürbüz, Serdar Derya



Owner and Responsible Manager

Başar Cander Department of Emergency Medicine, School of Medicine, University of Health Sciences, Kanuni Sultan Süleyman Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Editors in Chief

Başar Cander Mehmet Gül

Editorial Board

Zeynep Gökcan Çakır Müjgan Çalışkan Evren Abdelouahab Bellou Juliusz Jakubaszko Fatima Lateef Behçet Al Yavuz Katırcı Khikmat Anvarov Şerife Özdinç Paul D. Kivela Afşin Emre Kayıpmaz Mehtap Gürger Wei Jie Havva Şahin Kavaklı Latif Duran Ahmet Erdur

Printing and Graphics Department



NEF12 Ofis

Maltepe Mah. Çırpıcı Yolu B Çk. NEF12 B Blok Kat:14 Daire:148 Zeytinburnu / İstanbul / Türkiye Telefon: 0212 963 09 46

Şişli Ofis

Merkez Mahallesi Hasat Sokak No: 52 Şişli / İstanbul / Türkiye Telefon: 0553 199 95 59 info@puntodizgi.com www.puntoajans.com Acil tıp, bir çok yönüyle tıbbın diğer alanlarından farklı özellikler gösterir. En zor branşların başında gelmektedir. Değerlendirmelerin bütünsel olması zorunluluğunun yanında, zamanla yarış acil müdahalenin önemli bir niteliğidir. Acil tıp geniş spekturumunda en zor hasta grubu da kritik hasta grubudur. Bir ülkenin sağlık sisteminin en önemli başarı göstergesi kritik hastalarda ulaştığı bakım kalitesidir. Bu zor hasta grubunda başarıya ulaşmak çok önemli bir bilgi birikimini, tüm donanımları içeren üniteleri ve ciddi bir ekip çalışmasını gerektirir. Bu yüzden kritik hasta bakımının gerekli düzeylere ulaşması sağlık sisteminin en önemli hedeflerinden biri olmalıdır.

Üçüncü sayısını çıkardığımız dergimiz bu hedeflere hizmet edecek önemli bir köşe taşıdır ve geleceğe doğru emin adımlarla ilerlemeye devam edecektir. Bu sayımızla ilk yılı geride bırakmış ve uluslar arsı indekslerde yerini almıştır. Dergimizin birinci yılında konuya ilgi gösteren arkadaşlarımıza ,yayın sürecine destek veren tüm ekiplere ve hakemlerimize teşekkür ediyoruz. İkinci yılımızda daha büyük hedeflere doğru hep birlikte yürümeye devam edeceğiz. Gelecek sayılarımızda buluşmak temennisiyle...

In many different aspects of emergency medicine, it shows different features than other fields of medicine. It is one of the most difficult branches. In addition to the necessity of evaluations to be holistic, the race over time is an important feature of emergency response. In the broad spectrum of emergency medicine, the most difficult patient group is the critical patient group. The most important indicator of success of a country's health system is the quality of care in critically ill patients. Achieving success in this difficult group of patients requires a significant knowledge, units with all the equipment and a serious team work. Therefore, achieving the necessary levels of crirtic patient care should be one of the most important goals of the health system.

The third issue of our journal is an important cornerstone to serve these goals and will continue to move forward confidently. This issue left behind the first year and took its place in international indexes. In the first year of our journal, we would like to thank our friends who showed interest in the subject, all the teams and referees who supported the publication process. In our second year, we will continue to walk towards greater goals. We hope to meet you in our next issues...

Tüm editöriyal kurul adına editör; On behalf of the entire editorial board; Prof. Dr. Başar Cander

Contents

1.	Discussion of Mechanical Chest Compression Device Usage in Cardiac Arrest Cases in Hospitals in Light of Recent Literature
2.	Exposure to Infrared Light: Case Series
3.	The New Biomarkers Used in the Differentiation Between Transudate and Exudate Pleural Effusions
	Turgut Teke, Kerim Yeşildağ
4.	Evaluation of Infants Undergoing Cranial Computed Tomography in the Emergency Department Due to Head Trauma
	Ramazan Ünal, Dilek Atik, Bensu Bulut, Ahmet Erdur, Hasan Çam, Salih Fettahoğlu, Ramazan Güven, Başar Cander
5.	Investigation of the Efficacy of Aminoguanidine in an Experimental Rat Model with Isolated Bilateral Pulmonary Contusion Due To Blunt Thoracic Trauma
	Dilek Atik, Bengu Seliman, Derya Balcı Köroğlu, Bensu Bulut, Bahadır Taşlıdere
6.	A Rare Trauma Complication: Pneumopericardium
	Onnur Oyanık, Munanımed Ekmekyapar, Hakan Oguzturk, şukru Gurbuz, kamazan Avcu
7.	Does A Potato Threat Your Life? A Case Study 123
	Serkan Doğan, Bensu Bulut, Canan Akman, Zeynep Saral Öztürk, Ekim Sağlam Gürmen, Tarık Ocak, Başar Cander
8.	Periorbital Air Following Sneeze
	Yağmur Gökhan Semerci, Cesareddin Dikmetaş, Ayla Köksal, Dilek Atik, Serkan Doğan, Duygu Yaman, Başar Cander
9.	Bilateral Facial Paralysis Following Tooth Extraction
10	De st Fuere Deufeustion 121
10	. Post Ercp Perforation

Review Article Eurasian Journal of Critical Care

Discussion of Mechanical Chest Compression Device Usage in Cardiac Arrest Cases in Hospitals in Light of Recent Literature

Yahya Kemal GÜNAYDIN, Miraç ALTUN, Dilber ÜÇÖZ KOCAŞABAN Ankara Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi Acil Tıp Anabilim Dalı, Ankara

Abstract

The most important goal of cardio-pulmonary resuscitation is to provide adequate blood flow to brain and heart by return of spontaneous circulation and this can be performed by chest compressions in cardio-pulmonary resuscitation. The most important fact for providing the best circulation is immediate, fast, continuous and high quality chest compression in 2015 American Heart Association (AHA) guideline. Therefore various mechanical chest compression devices are developed recently for more efficient chest compressions and entered the clinical usage. These devices may be considered for use in situations such as prolonged CPR, low number of rescuers, hypothermic cardiac arrest, ambulances in motion, extracorporeal CPR, during angiography which makes it difficult to perform high quality CPR. Apart from these conditions, mechanical chest compression devices should not be preferred to manual chest compression in in-hospital cardiac arrest.

Keywords: Cardiac Arrest, CPR, Device

Introduction

Mortality rate of cardiac arrests in hospital is pretty high.^{1,2} While survival rates vary between 5% to 50% and varying degrees of brain damage occur in more than half of the patients who can manage to survive.³⁻⁵ The most important goal of cardio-pulmonary resuscitation is to provide adequate blood flow to brain and heart by return of spontaneous circulation and this can be performed by chest compressions in cardio-pulmonary resuscitation. During chest compressions, the intra-thoracic pressure increases and this provides the blood to circulate through the heart. In the decompression phase intra-thoracic pressure decreases and provides return of blood to the heart.⁶

In most of the societies, the progress of the interventions after cardiac arrests cannot provide favorable outcomes or they can only provide restricted recoveries.^{7,8} Lack of experience and ability with inadequate chest compressions are the most important reasons of CPR failure in many studies that investigate the reasons. Even well performed chest compressions cannot provide coronary and cerebral perfusion as good as spontaneous circulation.⁶ In another study, it was shown that even a 1 minute long CPR on a mannequin causes severe fatigue. Also the rate of accurate and proper CPR decreases by time.⁹ The most important fact for providing the best circulation is immediate, fast, continuous and high quality chest compression in 2015 American Heart Association (AHA) guideline.¹⁰ Therefore various mechanical chest compression devices are developed recently for more efficient chest compressions and entered the clinical usage. In this section we aimed to inform about the CPR performed by mechanical chest compression devices in cardiac arrest cases occurred in the hospital with regards to recent knowledge. We aimed to give recent information by considering guidelines that published in last years, randomized controlled clinical and experimental studies.

Mechanical Chest Compression Devices:

Active Compression- Decompression CPR and Impedance Threshold Device

ACD-CPR is performed by manually pump that has penetration feature in mid 1/3 of the sternum. After compression phase, during the decompression phase device move away from the chest and let the blood flow back to the heart. Therefore cardiac output increases.¹⁰

Impedance threshold device is a valve controlled device that attached to the endotracheal tube or supraglottic airway. The device increases the negative intrathoracic pressure by limiting air flow to the lungs in decompression phase of CPR. Thus venous return to the heart and cardiac output increases. It does not prevent positive pressure ventilation and exhalation at the same time. When ROSC is achieved the device detached. It can be used individually or together with active compression-decompression CPR device.^{10,11}

Coronary and cerebral perfusion increment by elevation of intrathoracic negative pressure in the decompression phase is determined in previous human and animal studies in which the CPR was performed by ACD-CPR and ITD.¹²⁻¹⁴ Furthermore, this approach increases the 24 survival rates in clinical trials.^{15,16} The study which Wik L et al that performed shows us ACD-CPR increases the short-term and long term survival rates significantly.¹⁷ In another study there was not significant superiority at survival rates and ROSC between traditional CPR and ACD-CPR in cardiac arrest cases occurred in hospital. Only ACD-CPR caused less complications like costa fractures, hemothorax and pneumothorax.¹⁸ But controversial conclusions are determined about ACD-CPR in various studies. Besides depending on rescuer and be obliged to change the rescuer frequently as traditional CPR are the negative sides of ACD-CPR.¹⁹

American Heart Association (AHA) 2015 guideline stated that there was only one poor quality randomized controlled trial about ACD-CPR and ITD. According the result of this study, routine usage of ACD-CPR and ITD was not recommended. However in the presence of educated crew and appropriate equipment the combined usage of traditional CPR and ACD-CPR should be considered (Class IIb, LOE C-LD). The routine usage of ITD in CPR was not recommended because lack of enough evidence on 2015 AHA guideline (Class III: No Benefit, LOE A).¹⁰

Mechanical Chest Compression Devices: Piston Device

Chest compressions performed by a piston which places onto the sternum and uses electric or gas. These compressions can be adjusted as fast as required. While some of these devices are designed with vacuum mechanism for active decompression after every compression, some of them not designed as this mechanism. The most frequent used one of these devices is LUCAS (Lund University Cardiac Assist System).¹⁰

LUCAS provides appropriate amplitude and appropriate rate of compression. The device works automatically and is not depended on rescuer. After compression provided the device gets the initial position which let the heart relaxation. There is no significant difference at short-term, long term survival rates and the neurological outcomes between manual traditional CPR and LUCAS in the randomized controlled studies.^{20,21} There are another machines that work with similar mechanism. However there is no significant success on survival rates, discharge from hospital rate and good neurological outcomes in the studies which using these devices.^{22,23} Three comprehensive randomized controlled trials show us the usage of LUCAS in cardiac arrests occurred in hospital had no significant effect on ROSC and also the usage of LUCAS may harm the patient. Also by taking the hospital discharge rates into consideration, it is found to be harmful when compared to traditional manual CPR.²⁴

In 2015 AHA guidelines, the routine usage of these devices are not suggested as there is insufficient evidence. It is



Figure 1. The compression and decompression process made by Cardiopump. (CardioPump ACD-CPR Device and ITD; ADVANCED CIRCULATORY SYSTEMS, INC.; USA)

only suggested to be used when there is proper educated personnel (Class IIb, LOE B-R). Furthermore, the usage of mechanical chest compression devices with piston mechanism can be considered in situations where good quality CPR is not possible such as lengthened CPR, situations involving few rescuers, hypothermic cardiac arrest, ambulances on the move, during angiography and during preparations for extracorporeal CPR; but the chest compressions should not be interrupted during the placement of these devices. ¹⁰



Figure 2. The Lund University Cardiac Assist System (LUCAS; Jolife, Lund, Sweden; distributed in the United States by Medtronic, Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA)

Load-Distributing Band Devices (LDB)

It is a mechanical chest compression device that is fixed on the backboard and works by surrounding the patient's chest either electronically or pneumatically. When the device was first entered usage, it was promoted as a very promising method. In a study conducted by Hock Ong et al., chest compressions done by LDB and traditional manual compressions were compared among 1011 in-hospital cardiac arrest cases. As a result they concluded similar results in the return of spontaneous circulation, but, the rates of hospital discharge and good neurological outcome results were found to be better in patients who received chest compressions via LDB.²⁵ However, in other clinical studies, in regards of 30-day survival rates and good neurological



Figure 3. AutoPulse Resuscitation System. AutoPulse and ZOLL are registered trademarks of ZOLL Medical Corporation in the United States.

outcomes, LDB was found to be inferior when compared to traditional manual CPR.²⁶⁻³¹ In 3 vast randomized controlled studies performed on in-hospital cardiac arrest cases, it is found that the usage of LDB does not provide a significant effect on the return of spontaneous circulation and may even cause harm. Also by taking the hospital discharge rates into consideration, it is found to be harmful when compared to traditional manual CPR.²⁴

In 2015 AHA guidelines, the routine usage of these devices are not suggested as there is insufficient evidence. It is only suggested to be used when there is proper educated personnel (Class IIb, LOE B-R). Furthermore, the usage of mechanical chest compression devices with piston mechanism can be considered in situations where good quality CPR is not possible such as lengthened CPR, situations involving few rescuers, hypothermic cardiac arrest, ambulances on the move, during angiography and during preparations for extracorporeal CPR; but the chest compressions should not be interrupted during the placement of these devices.¹⁰

Conclusion

A recent extensive study on this subject is a meta-analysis published by Brooks SC et al. in 2014. This meta-analysis highlighted that there is not sufficient evidence for the mechanical chest compression devices to replace manual traditional chest compressions in cases of in-hospital cardiac arrest. Moreover, it is not proved to be superior to manual CPR in aspects of return of spontaneous circulation, hospital discharge rates and good neurological outcomes.³² Also in 2015 AHA guidelines, the usage of mechanical chest compression devices instead of traditional CPR methods is not suggested.¹⁰ As a result, by considering all the data published in the recent years, in in-hospital cardiac arrest cases the mechanical chest compression devices should not be preferred over manual chest compressions.

References

- 1. Taniguchi D, Baernstein A, Nichol G: Cardiac arrest: A public health perspective. Emerg Med Clin North Am 2012; 30:1–12.
- Merchant RM, Yang L, Becker LB, et al; American Heart Association Get With The Guidelines-Resuscitation Investigators: Incidence of treated cardiac arrest in hospitalized patients in the United States. Crit Care Med 2011; 39:2401–2406.
- Berg RA, Hemphill R, Abella BS, Aufderheide TP, Cave DM, Hazinski MF, et al.Part 5: Adult Basic Life Support: 2010 American Heart Association guidelines for cardiopulmonary resuscitation and emergency cardiovascular care. Circulation 2010;122(Suppl 3): S685–S705.
- Herlitz J, Andersson E, Bang A, Engdahl J, Holmberg M, lindqvist J, et al.Experiences from treatment of outof-hospital cardiac arrest during 17 years in Goteborg. European Heart Journal 2000;21:1251–8.
- 5. Young G. Neurologic prognosis after cardiac arrest. New England Journal of Medicine 2009;361:605–11.
- 6. Brooks SC, Bigham BL, Morrison LJ. Mechanical versus manual chest compressions for cardiac arrest. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2011, Issue 1.
- 7. Sasson C, Rogers MA, Dahl J, et al: Predictors of survival from out-ofhospital cardiac arrest: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes 2010; 3:63–81.
- Bradley SM, Huszti E, Warren SA, et al: Duration of hospital participation in Get With the Guidelines-Resuscitation and survival of inhospital cardiac arrest. Resuscitation 2012; 83:1349–1357.
- Hightower D, Thomas SH, Stone CK, Dunn K, March JA. Decay in quality of closed-chest compressions over time. Ann Emerg Med. 1995;26(3):300–3.
- Steven C. Brooks, Chair; Monique L. Anderson; Eric Bruder; Mohamud R. Daya et al. 2015 American Heart Association Guidelines Update for Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care. Part 6: Alternative Techniques and Ancillary Devices for Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation. Circulation. 2015;132[suppl 2]:S436–S443.
- 11. Plaisance P, Lurie KG, Payen D. Inspiratory impedance during active compression- decompression cardiopulmonary resuscitation: a randomized evaluation in patients in cardiac arrest. Circulation. 2000;101:989–994.
- 12. Voelckel WG, Lurie KG, Sweeney M, et al. Effects of active compression-decompression cardiopulmonary resuscitation

with the inspiratory threshold valve in a young porcine model of cardiac arrest. Pediatr Res 2002;51(4):523–527.

- 13. Langhelle A, Strømme T, Sunde K, Wik L, Nicolaysen G, Steen PA. Inspiratory impedance threshold valve during CPR. Resuscitation 2002;52(1):39–48.
- Aufderheide TP, Alexander C, Lick C, et al. From laboratory science to six emergency medical services systems: new understanding of the physiology of cardiopulmonary resuscitation increases survival rates after cardiac arrest. Crit Care Med 2008;36(11):S397–S404.
- 15. Wolcke BB, Mauer DK, Schoefmann MF, et al. Comparison of standard cardiopulmonary resuscitation versus the combination of active compression-decompression cardiopulmonary resuscitation and an inspiratory impedance threshold device for out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. Circulation 2003;108(18):2201–2205.
- Plaisance P, Lurie KG, Vicaut E, et al. Evaluation of an impedance threshold device in patients receiving active compression-decompression cardiopulmonary resuscitation for out of hospital cardiac arrest. Resuscitation 2004;61(3):265–271.
- L, Kramer-Johansen J, Myklebust H, et al. Quality of cardiopulmonary resuscitation during out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. JAMA 2005; 293:299–304.
- Günaydın YK, Çekmen B, Akıllı NB, Köylü R, Sert ET, Cander B. Comparative effectiveness of standard cardiopulmonary resuscitation vs active compression-decompression cardiopulmonary resuscitation with CardioPump for treatment of cardiac arrest.Am J Emerg Med. 2015 Dec 23. pii: S0735-6757(15)01122-5. doi: 10.1016/j.ajem.2015.12.066.
- Jane G. Wigginton, S. Marshal Isaacs, Joseph J. Kay. Mechanical devices for cardiopulmonary resuscitation. Curr Opin Crit Care 13:273–279.
- 20. Perkins GD, Lall R, Quinn T, Deakin CD, Cooke MW, Horton J, Lamb SE, Slowther AM, Woollard M, Carson A, Smyth M, Whitfield R, Williams A, Pocock H, Black JJ, Wright J, Han K, Gates S; PARAMEDIC trial collaborators. Mechanical versus manual chest compression for out-of-hospital cardiac arrest (PARAMEDIC): a pragmatic, cluster randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2015;385:947–955. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61886-9.
- 21. Rubertsson S, Lindgren E, Smekal D, Östlund O, Silfverstolpe J, Lichtveld RA, Boomars R, Ahlstedt B, Skoog G, Kastberg R, Halliwell D, Box M, Herlitz J, Karlsten R. Mechanical chest compressions and simultaneous defibrillation vs conventional cardiopulmonary resuscitation in out-ofhospital cardiac arrest: the LINC randomized trial. JAMA. 2014;311:53–61. doi: 10.1001/jama.2013.282538.
- 22. Dickinson ET, Verdile VP, Schneider RM, Salluzzo RF. Effectiveness of mechanical versus manual chest compressions in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest resuscitation: a pilot study. Am J Emerg Med. 1998;16:289–292.
- 23. Wang HC, Chiang WC, Chen SY, Ke YL, Chi CL, Yang CW, Lin PC, Ko PC, Wang YC, Tsai TC, Huang CH, Hsiung KH, Ma MH, Chen SC, Chen WJ, Lin FY. Video-recording and time-motion

analyses of manual versus mechanical cardiopulmonary resuscitation during ambulance transport. Resuscitation. 2007;74:453–460. doi: 10.1016/j. resuscitation.2007.01.018.

- 24. Hui Li, Dongping Wang, Yi Yu, Xiang Zhao and Xiaoli Jing. Mechanical versus manual chestcompressions for cardiac arrest: a systematic review and meta-analysis
- 25. Hock Ong ME, Fook-Chong S, Annathurai A, Ang SH, Tiah L, Yong KL, et al. Improved neurologically intact survival with the use of an automated, load-distributing band chest compression device for cardiac arrest presenting to the emergency department. Crit Care 2012; 16: R144.
- 26. Timerman S, Cardoso LF, Ramires JA, Halperin H. Improved hemodynamic performance with a novel chest compression device during treatment of in-hospital cardiac arrest. Resuscitation. 2004;61:273–280. doi: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2004.01.025.

- Casner M, Andersen D, Isaacs SM. The impact of a new CPR assist device on rate of return of spontaneous circulation in out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. Prehosp Emerg Care. 2005;9:61–67. doi: 10.1080/10903120590891714.
- Ong ME, Ornato JP, Edwards DP, Dhindsa HS, Best AM, Ines CS, Hickey S, Clark B, Williams DC, Powell RG, Overton JL, Peberdy MA. Use of an automated, load-distributing band chest compression device for outof- hospital cardiac arrest resuscitation. JAMA. 2006;295:2629–2637. doi: 10.1001/ jama.295.22.2629.
- Steinmetz J, Barnung S, Nielsen SL, Risom M, Rasmussen LS. Improved survival after an out-of-hospital cardiac arrest using new guidelines. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2008;52:908– 913. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-6576.2008.01657.x.

Original Article Eurasian Journal of Critical Care

Exposure to Infrared Light: Case Series

Ayla Köksal¹, Cesareddin Dikmetaş¹, Büşra Bildik¹, Serkan Doğan¹, Dilek Atik², Başar Cander¹ ¹Sağlık Bilimleri Üniversitesi Kanuni Sultan Süleyman Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi, Acil Tıp Kliniği, İstanbul ²Yozgat Bozok Üniversitesi, Tıp Fakültesi, Acil Tıp Anabilim dalı, Yozgat

Abstract

Introduction : Infrared rays(IR) have been used in many areas in recent years and nowadays, many devices have been developed with the aim of heating in open, closed areas working with infrared technology. IR can cause retinopathy. They have the risk of developing periocular skin burns, corneal epitheliopathy, retinopathy. In this study, we wanted to talk about eight cases who were exposure with infrared light in a chemical manufacturing factory where Infrared light was used for drying and all of 8 patients had burning, stinging, watering, redness in the eyes.

Case: 8 men with ages between 18-33were admitted to the emergency department with burning, stinging, watering, redness in their eyes. It was learnt that it was started after taking a photo in daylight with infrared light that they used to dry the chemical materials at the factory where they were working. In the physical examination, there was watering, hyperemia in both eyes. Eye movements, pupil diameters, light reflexes were natural. Analgesic eye drops and saline irrigations were performed as a first intervention. Afterwards, the cases' eyes were closed with eye closing tapes in order to minimize the photosensitivity, ophthalmology consultation were requested. Analgesic drops were given after ophthalmology consultation and outpatient follow-up was planned, they were discharged.

Conclusion: The use of infrared-ray devices outside of the production purpose can cause eye irritation in the simplest form, as in our study. For this reason, having more warning instructions which are put by the production company in the manual will protect us from the many health problems, users must pay attention to these instructions before they use those device

Introduction

Infrared (IR) has been first discovered by Willian Herschel during 1800s¹. The well recognized applications of IR are drying of the car paints in automotive industry and paper drying in paper industry. However, it is widely used including a simple light source and medicine². Different from normal electric heaters, the products which operate through infrared system to heat the object by transmitting the heat by light have became popular during recent years³.

We aimed to discuss eight patients who had watering, redness and sense of stinging and burning on the eyes after exposure to infrared light in a chemical manufacturing factory where infrared light is used for drying.

The Case

Eight male patients with age average between 18 and 33 years referred to emergency department because of burning, stinging, watering and redness on the eyes. Medical history of the patients revealed that the complaints started after taking a photo under day light within the infrared light that they

use to dry chemical materials at the factory where they were working (Image 1). Physicial examination of the patients was normal. They had cooperation and orientation; watering and hyperemia were detected on both eyes (Image 2). Eye movements, pupil diameters and light reflexes were natural. Examination of the other systems was normal. Analgesic eye drops and saline irrigations were performed as a first intervention. Afterwards, the eyes of the cases were closed with eye closing tapes in order to minimize the photosensitivity, and ophthalmology consultation was requested. Analgesic eye drops were prescribed following consultation with ophthalmology department; follow-up on outpatient basis was planned and the patients were discharged.

Discussion

IR radiation is an electromagnetic energy and exists between visible light and microwave regions at electromagnetic spectrum⁴⁻⁵. IR zone defines the electromagnetic radiation between 1.8 and 3.4 μ m wavelengths⁶. The IR lights are divided into 3 classes depending on the wavelength and emission temperature: 1-short wave or close IR zone, 0.72-2 μ m (3870-1180°C), 2-middle wave or moderate IR zone, 2-4



Image 1.



Image 2.

 μ m (1180-450°C), 3-long wave or far IR zone, 4-1000 μ m (<450°C)⁷. The most common IR applications include drying of the car paints in automotive industry and paper drying in paper industry. However, it is used within a wide range of processes including a simple light source and medicine².

Mori et al. detected in their study that⁸ the heat increase on lacrymal glands and eyelids except cornea was significantly higher when compared with other conventional heaters. Takac et al.⁹ started that UV lights shorter than 400 nm wavelength and long infrared lights may cause moderate to severe corneal burns. It was reported that chronic exposure to middle length infrared lights (1400-3000 nm) may cause cataract and carcinogenic effects. Use of adequate spectacles was addressed to be protected from such lights. At this point, our cases did not use any spectacles. Unsal et al.³ Reported a case in form of eyelid burn due to exposure to infrared heater which is used for heating; however, our cases were injured at the workplace.

Conclusion

There is a gradual increase of infrared use at work and during daily life; the increase of incidence for use of these tools would cause an increase in burns involving sensitive organs such as eyes and in referrals to emergency department. Misuse of infrared light devices may simply cause irritation of the eye like our cases. Therefore, providing warning information and signs in the instruction manuals by the manufacturer companies and paying attention to such warnings would protect us from many possible severe health problems.

- Skjöldebrand, C., 2001. InfraredHeating. InThermal Technologies in FoodProcessing, Editedby R. Richardson, Boca Raton, Florida, 208-227p.
- 2. Tuncel N.Y., Tuncel N.B.Kızılötesi Teknolojisi ve Gıda İşlemedeki Kullanımı. Akademik Gıda 14(2) (2016) 196-203.
- Ünsal E et al.İnfrared Isıtıcı ile Oluşan Göz Kapağı Yanığı.İstanbul Med J 2013; 14: 66-8.
- Skjöldebrand, C., 2002. Infraredprocessing. InTheNutirition-HandbookforFoodProcessors, EditedbyC.J.K. Henry, C. Chapman, Boca Raton, Florida, 423-432p.
- Sakai, N., Mao, W., 2006. InfraredHeating. InThermalFoodProcessing New Technologies andQualityIssues, Editedby D.W. Sun, BocaRaton, Florida, 493-527p.
- Fasina, O., Tyler, B., Pickard, M., Zheng, G.H., Wang, N., 2001. Effect of infraredheating on theproperties of legumeseeds. International Journalof FoodScienceandTechnology 36: 79-90.
- 7. Fasina, O., 2003. Infraredheating of foodandagriculturalmaterials. ASAE Paper No: 036219 StJoseph, Mich.
- Mori A, Oguchi Y, Goto E, Nakamori K, Ohtsuki T, Egami F, et al. Efficacyandsafety of infraredwarming of theeyelids. Cornea. 1999; 18: 188-93.
- Takac s, Stojanovic S. Classification of laserirradiationandsafetymeasures. MedPregl 1998; 51: 415-8.

Original Article Eurasian Journal of Critical Care

The New Biomarkers Used in the Differentiation Between Transudate and Exudate Pleural Effusions

¹Turgut TEKE, ²Kerim YESILDAG

¹Department of Chest Disease, Necmettin Erbakan University Meram Medical School, Konya, Turkey ²Department of Chest Disease, Numune Hospital, Konya, Turkey

Abstract

Etiological diagnosis of pleural effusion is sometimes easy and sometimes very difficult challenge. In most of patients with pleural effusion, the symptoms, signs and laboratory data are not pathognomonic for etiologic diagnosis. In a patient with an undiagnosed pleural effusion, the first question to answer is whether the fluid is a transudate or an exudate. This is usually determined by means of Light's criteria. In patients under diuretic treatment, Light's criteria misclassify transudates as exudates, but the pleural fluid NT-pro-BNP levels usually is above 1500 pg/mL in pleural effusions associated with heart failure.

Keywords: pleural effusion, new biomarkers, NT-pro-BNP

INTRODUCTION

Presented by Light et al.¹ to be used in the differentiation of exudates from transudates and also known as the Light's criteria, the criteria are still widely accepted and commonly used today although more than 40 years have passed since its definition. Light's Criteria: Exudative Effusions will have at least one or more of the following: Pleural fluid protein / Serum protein >0.5. Pleural fluid LDH / Serum LDH >0.6. Pleural fluid LDH > 2/3 Serum LDH Upper Limit of Normal. Despite the fact that the Light's criteria have been accepted as the first step towards the diagnosis of pleural effusions (PEs), concerns over the benefit of this approach have always been present since the creation of the criteria²⁻⁵. A few of the focus points of these concerns can be explained as follows:

1- Light et al.¹ reported the sensitivity of the criteria they defined in their original study as 99% and the specificity as 98% in determining exudates. In later studies, Light's criteria high sensitivity rates were supported but the specificity rates were emphasized to be lower than specified (65%-86%)^{2,3}. Despite the superior differentiating power of the Light's criteria, it is known that approximately 20-30% of transudative PEs related to cardiac failure and cirrhosis were wrongly classified as exudates with the Light's criteria⁶. Majority of the cases falsely diagnosed as exudates were demonstrated to be patients receiving diuretic therapy, and diuretic therapy was

shown to change the serum and PE biochemical parameters⁷. Is using biochemical parameters to differentiate between transudative and exudative PEs adequate and significant? What should be the primary approach if the clinical prediction contradicts with the biochemical diagnosis methods⁸?

- 2- Some etiological factors can cause both transudative and exudative PEs. In fact, the same patient sometimes may have two different concurring disorders. It is emphasized that in such cases, primarily clinical decisions should prevail biochemical approaches in differentiating between transudate and exudate⁹.
- 3- Although rarely, transudative PE development or bloody transudative PE formation related to different pathologies is also possible in patients with malignancies. Because of the high LDH levels present in erythrocytes (containing LDH-1 isoenzyme), it is expected to raise the LDH levels in bloody transudative PEs and thus, the liquid can be wrongly classified as exudates (meeting exudate criteria)¹⁰. However, in a study where 23 patients with bloody PEs having an erythrocyte number of more than 100.000/mm³ were enrolled, only a slight increase was demonstrated in the PE LDH-1 levels contrary to the expectations¹¹.
- 4- A threshold border level to be chosen for a test affects the test's sensitivity and specificity. Knowingly attempting to increase the sensitivity of a test will decrease its specificity and will start to give false positivity in more people. The sensitivity and specificity, and thus the false

positive and false negative numbers of any test are dependent upon the cutoff value chosen to determine exudative PEs. If the cutoff value is chosen high, all transudates will be determined as true but if it is chosen low, then all exudates will be determined as true. Using this approach, Heffner et al.¹² analysed the data of a total of 1448 patients in eight studies and concluded that the best cutoff values were, respectively, 0.5 for protein rate, 45% of the serum upper limit of normal for PE LDH level and 0.45 for LDH rate. At the same time in this meta-analysis, the authors showed that only two or three combinations of pleural fluid parameters (e.g. combination of LDH and cholesterol or combination of LDH, cholesterol and protein) had diagnosis rates similar to the Light criteria without a need for blood samples and with a lower cost.

- 5- Tests used in the differentiation or diagnosis of PEs should be cost-effective. For this reason, many studies focused on making the Light criteria more cost-effective without decreasing the accuracy of the diagnosis. In the first studies on the subject, the measurement of PE cholesterol level alone was claimed to be used as an alternative to the Light criteria in the differentiation of transudates and exudates as a cost-effective test¹³. However, these dates could not be verified in the later studies^{2,14}. Furthermore, studies on the measurement of PE cholesterol level are still ongoing today but none of the results obtained from the studies show consistency with one another. Hamel et al.¹⁵ reported in their recent study that when the cutoff value for the PE cholesterol level was taken as >45 mg/dL, the sensitivity was 97.7% and the specificity was 100% in the differentiation of transudate-exudate. In a systematic compilation published a very short time ago, the most specific findings for exudate diagnosis were determined to be PE cholesterol level being >55 mg/dL, PE/serum cholesterol rate being >0.3 and PE LDH level being $>200 \text{ U/L}^{16}$.
- 6- There is a need for new biomarkers that could be used in the differentiating diagnosis (e.g. malignant, tuberculosis, parapneumonic pleurisy) within the exudative PEs after the transudate-exudate differentiation; that could lead the way for diagnostic (e.g. pleura biopsy, thoracoscopy) or therapeutic (e.g. recurring thoracentesis, chest tube insertion) procedures; that could reveal the etiological cause in malignant PEs (malignant mesothelioma, lung cancer metastasis or metastasis from extrapulmonary malignancies); that could demonstrate early whether the non-purulent parapneumonic PEs are complicated or not.

In light of these controversial subjects, we will talk about new biomarkers proposed for the diagnosis of exudative PEs and presented as a contribution or an alternative to the Light criteria in the following parts of the article. Although there are dozens of new biomarkers used in studies related to PEs, unfortunately very few of them conform to the criteria of ideal biomarkers that could be used clinically, and primarily these will be discussed in this paper. An ideal biomarker is one that can easily be measured, that has a reasonable price that helps in decisions, that is repeatable and that gives the same results each time it is repeated¹⁷.

New Biomarkers

While the Light criteria are widely used in clinical practice, it can particularly wrongly classify more than 25% of transudative bloody PEs, developing in patients receiving diuretic therapy due to cardiac failure¹⁸. After albumin and protein gradient calculations were started to use, the wrong classification of transudative PEs in patients receiving diuretic therapy was decreased. If albumin gradient (serum-PE albumin difference) is >1.2 g/dL or protein gradient (serum-PE protein difference) is >3.1 g/dL, PE is classified as transude. However, these gradient calculations should not be used as a starting parameter due to their low sensitivity. In PEs classified wrongly as exudates with the Light criteria despite the clinical situation supporting transude, calculation of albumin or protein gradients in PEs is recommended^{2,19,20}. Bielsa et al.⁶ reported that albumin gradients classified correctly more PEs compared to protein gradient (83% vs. 55% of wrong classifications). Nevertheless, in clinical practice it is recommended that first protein gradient is calculated and that if no result is obtained, albumin gradient is calculated or N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide (NT-pro-BNP) level is measured because protein level is measured at baseline due to the purposes of the Light criteria¹⁰.

Natriuretic Peptides

Natriuretic peptides (ANP, proANP, BNP, NT-pro-BNP) are neurohormones used to help the diagnosis of cardiac failure and excreted by myocardium myocytes depending on the increased pressure or volume burden²¹. In clinical practice, while serum BNP level being lower than 100 pg/mL or NTpro-BNP level being lower than 300 pg/mL excludes the diagnosis of cardiac failure, BNP level being higher than 500 pg/mL or NT-pro-BNP level being higher than 450-1800 pg/ mL (depending on conditions such as threshold value age, gender, renal failure and increasing with age) supports cardiac failure diagnosis²².

Increased *NT-pro-BNP* levels in PEs due to cardiac failure were first demonstrated in 2004 by Porcel et al.²³. Many later studies also support the use of PE NT-pro-BNP level in determining PEs developing due to cardiac failure²⁴⁻²⁶. In three different studies, Porcel et al.²¹ measured NT-pro-BNP levels in 150 PEs developing due to cardiac failure and in 158 PEs related to factors other than cardiac failure (58 malignant, 31 parapneumonic, 28 tuberculosis, 18 hepatic, 13 pulmonary embolism, 5 transudates with other reasons and 5 exudates with other causes). They reported that median NT-pro-BNP levels were significantly higher in PEs related to cardiac failure (6203 pg/mL) than PEs related to other causes (342 pg/mL). The best cutoff value for the diagnosis of PEs related to cardiac failure was determined to be 1300 pg/mL with ROC analysis and for this cutoff value, sensitivity was calculated as 93.3%, specificity as 89.9%, and the area under ROC curve as 0.96. If the cutoff value is taken as 1500 pg/mL, the sensitivity (91%) and the specificity (93%) of the test becomes more diagnostic for cardiac failure. Liao et al.²⁷ compared the NT-pro-BNP levels in ten patients, each with PEs related to cardiac failure, pulmonary thromboembolism, coronary artery bypass surgery and malignancy, and they reported that PE NT-pro-BNP levels were above 1500 pg/mL in all PEs related to cardiac failure and that they were below this level in all PEs related to other causes. In the meta-analysis of data from a total of 1120 PEs (429 developing secondary to cardiac failure and 691 developing due to causes other than cardiac failure) obtained from 10 studies, including the studies by Seyhan et al.²⁸ and Bayram et al.²⁹ from Turkey, Janda and Swiston³⁰ calculated the sensitivity of NT-proBNP as 94% (95% CI: 90-97), the specificity as 94% (95% CI: 89-97) and area under ROC curve as 0.98 (95% CI: 0.96-0.99). The authors stated in the conclusion of this meta-analysis that the best diagnosis threshold value for PE NT-pro-BNP was \geq 1500 pg/mL. This threshold is widely accepted and commonly used today.

In a study by Cincin et al.²⁶, 8 of 21 PEs related to cardiac failure (38.1%) was wrongly classified as exudate. 5 of those were patients receiving diuretic therapy prior to thoracentesis. It was reported that PE NT-pro-BNP levels were significantly much higher in the ones wrongly classified as exudates (2024 pg/mL) than actual exudates (367 pg/mL). Porcel et al.³¹ reported that 31 of 129 PEs related to cardiac failure (24%) were wrongly classified as exudates with the Light criteria, that NT-pro-BNP levels provided diagnosis accuracy in 27 of these 31 PEs (87%), that the diagnosis accuracy of protein gradient was 53% and of albumin gradient was 79%. That NT-pro-BNP levels were measured to be significantly much lower (551 pg/mL) in other conditions (6931 pg/mL) such as cirrhosis causing transudative PEs in another study by the same researchers brings forward NTpro-BNP as a biomarker specific to PEs related to cardiac failure²³. That there is a strong correlation between serum and PE NT-pro-BNP levels reiterates NT-pro-BNP being a good biomarker for cardiac PEs more. Bayram et al.²⁹ measured NT-pro-BNP levels in 133 patients and calculated the correlation covariance between serum and PE as 0.91. Similarly, four other studies on the subject support the strong correlation between serum and PE for NT-pro-BNP test, and the correlation covariance values in these studies vary between 0.90 and 0.95^{26,31-33}.

Another reason making NT-pro-BNP a more ideal biomarker for cardiac PEs is their superiority to BNP. Several studies investigated the diagnostical value of PE BNP in the differential diagnosis of PEs and compared it to NT-pro-BNP head-to-head. In the first study on the subject, BNP and NTpro-BNP levels of 90 PEs related to cardiac failure and 91 PEs related to other causes were measured. When the cutoff value for PE BNP level in determining PEs related to cardiac failure was taken as >115 pg/mL, the sensitivity was calculated to be 74% and the specificity to be 92%. These values were lower values compared to PE NT-pro-BNP. Furthermore, area under ROC curve was found to be lower in BNP (AUC: 0.90) than in NT-pro-BNP (AUC: 0.96), and the correlation between BNP and NT-pro-BNP was shown to be weak $(r=0.78)^{34}$. In another study conducted later, the facts that BNP (AUC=0.70) was a weaker test than NT-pro-BNP (AUC=0.84) in determining PEs developing due to cardiac failure and that there was a weaker positive correlation (r=0.57) between these two tests were supported³⁵. In a recent study, Marinho et al.36 investigated 34 PEs related to cardiac failure and 43 PEs related to other causes and reported that BNP levels were significantly much more higher in PEs developing due to cardiac failure (386 pg/mL) than PEs related to other causes (43 pg/mL). In this study, when the cutoff value for PE BNP level in determining PEs related to cardiac failure was taken as >127 pg/mL, sensitivity was calculated to be 97%, specificity to be 88% and AUC to be 0.98. Another superior aspect of NT-pro-BNP to BNP is the in-vitro stabilization process. NT-pro-BNP can remain stable in in-vitro environments after serum or PE sample is taken (1-2 hours) compared to BNP (20 minutes), which provides NT-pro-BNP with a measurement advantage and superiority³⁴.

The diagnostical value of the other two members of natriuretic peptide family, midregional proatrial natriuretic peptide (MR-proANP) and midregional proadrenomedullin (MR-proADM) in PEs developing due to cardiac failure was recently investigated by Porcel et al.³⁷. The researchers measured the levels of MR-proANP, MR-proADM and NTpro-BNP in a total of 185 PEs, 95 of which were related to acute decompensated cardiac failure and reported that the diagnostical value of MR-proANP was closer to NT-pro-BNP but the diagnostical value of MR-proADM was very low. In the diagnosis of PEs related to cardiac failure, when the best cutoff value for MR-proADM was taken as >2.5 nmol/L, sensitivity was 60%, specificity was 56% and AUC was =0.620; when the best cutoff value for MR-proANP was taken as >260 pmol/L, sensitivity was 84%, specificity was 83% and AUC was =0.918; and when the best cutoff value for NT-pro-BNP was taken as >1700 pg/mL, sensitivity was 92%, specificity was 82% and AUC was =0.935.

In summary, NT-pro-BNP, a member of natriuretic peptide family, is an ideal biomarker that could be used in determining whether the PEs that are wrongly classified with the Light criteria but clinically considered to be related to

Eurasian J Critical Care 2019; 1 (3):105-110

cardiac failure are related to cardiac causes or not because of the following reasons: that it can differentiate cardiac-related PEs from exudates and other transudate causes, that it is superior to protein gradient and albumin gradient in differentiating PEs wrongly classified as exudates, that there is a strong positive correlation between the serum and PE levels of the test, and that it has a measurement advantage because it can stay for a longer time in an in-vitro environment compared to BNP. The best diagnosis threshold value that is widely accepted and commonly used for PE NT-pro-BNP today is ≥ 1500 pg/mL. BNP and MR-proADM, the other members of the family, have no diagnostical superiority to NT-pro-BNP. That MR-proANP has a close diagnostical value to NT-pro-BNP brings to mind the hypothesis that this test could be superior to NT-pro-BNP in distinguishing cardiac-related liquids from liquids of other nature in the future, and there is a need for new studies that are well-planned and that can verify or exclude this possibility.

Ischemia Modified Albumin

Ischemia modified albumin (IMA) is a new biomarker that is shown to be better than classical markers such as troponin and creatinine kinase MB in revealing ischemia and that is studied to be used in the early diagnosis of ischemic heart diseases. There are only 2 studies on the measurement of IMA concentration in PEs, both of which were conducted in Turkey and published recently. Both of the studies reported that there was an increased IMA concentration in transudative PEs and that IMA was a good biomarker to be used in the differentiation of transudates and exudates. The first study was conducted by Ozsu et al.38, and this study investigated the IMA levels in PEs, 10 of which were related to cardiac failure and 30 of which were related to causes other than cardiac failure (10 pulmonary thromboembolism, 10 parapneumonic, 10 malignant). The researchers reported that IMA concentration was significantly higher in PEs related to cardiac failure than PEs related to other causes and that the sensitivity of IMA was 90%, specificity was 80% and area under ROC curve was 0.927. This study reported that there was not a strong correlation between serum and PE IMA levels (r=0.540) but measurement of IMA levels could help in differentiating cardiac-related liquids. In the second study by Dikensoy et al.39, more PE cases were included (total 160 PE; 50 transudate and 66 exudate) and it was reported that IMA concentration was significantly higher in transudates (7986 ng/mL) than exudates (3376 ng/mL) and that when the cutoff value was taken as >4711 ng/mL, the sensitivity was 82%, specificity was 78% and area under ROC curve was 0.837 in differentiating between transudates and exudates. The study found no difference between the IMA levels of transudates related to cardiac failure and transudates related to other causes. There was no significant correlation detected between serum and PE IMA levels. While the results of both studies had no superiority to the Light criteria, the results indicate that IMA can be a candidate as a good biomarker.

Soluble Urokinase Plasminogen Activator Receptor

Another biomarker that was investigated to be used in differentiating cardiac-related PEs from PEs related to other causes is soluble urokinase plasminogen activator receptor (suPAR). suPAR is actually a newly discovered inflammatory biomarker, and the only study published on its diagnostical value in cardiac PEs was conducted by Ozsu et al⁴⁰. In the study that included 18 PEs developing due to cardiac failure and 56 PEs developing due to other causes, it was detected that suPAR was significantly lower in cardiac-related PEs (11.8 [5.4-28.9] ng/mL) than PEs of other causes (26.7 [8.2-102.8] ng/mL) and that when the cutoff value for suPAR level was taken as \geq 17.6 ng/mL to exclude the causes other than cardiac failure, sensitivity was 88%, specificity was 83% and AUC was 0.878.

Others

Apart from these biomarkers, the following have been studied in the differentiation of transudates and exudates so far: alkaline phosphatase, bilirubin, creatinine kinase, uric acid, PE protein electrophoresis, acute phase proteins, pseudocholinesterase, PE/serum cholinesterase rate, cholinesterase, cytokines, HDL/LDL rate, triglyceride, cholesterol, glycosaminoglycan, copeptin, YKL-40 and ceruloplasmin. However, these markers were not shown to be superior to the Light criteria or when repeated, similar results were not obtained, or the diagnostical values could not be verified in later studies.

CONCLUSION

It is sometimes hard to reveal the cause of PE using routine methods. Despite the fact that the Light criteria have been accepted as the first step towards the diagnosis of pleural effusions (PEs), there are concerns over the benefit of this approach. There are new biomarkers proposed for the diagnosis of exudative PEs and presented as a contribution or an alternative to the Light criteria. An ideal biomarker is one that can easily be measured, that has a reasonable price that helps in decisions, that is repeatable and that gives the same results each time it is repeated¹⁷. Although there are dozens of new biomarkers used in studies related to PEs, only NT-pro-BNP, a natriuretic peptide conform to the criteria of ideal biomarkers that could be used clinically. NT-pro-BNP, a member of natriuretic pep-

tide family, level of pleural effusion being above 1500 pg/mL could be used in determining whether the PEs that are wrongly classified with the Light's criteria but clinically considered to be related to cardiac failure.

- 1. Light RW, MacGregor MI, Luchsinger PC, Ball WC. Pleural effusions: the diagnostic seperation of transudates and exudates. Ann Inter Med 1972;77:507-13.
- 2. Romero S, Candela A, Marti'n C, Hernandez L, Trigo C, Gil J. Evaluation of different criteria fort he separation of pleural transudates from exudates. Chest 1993;104:399-404.
- Vives M, Porcel M, Vincent de Vera MC, Ribelles R, Rubio M. A study of Light's criteria and possible modifications for distinguishing exudative from transudative pleural effusions. Chest 1996;109:1503-7.
- 4. Kopcinovic LM, Culej J. Pleural, peritoneal and pericardial effusions a biochemical approach. Biochemia Medica 2014;24(1):123-37.
- 5. Hassan T, Al-Alawi M, Chotirmall SH, McElvaney NG. Pleural fluid analysis: standstill or a work in progress? Pulm Med Hindawi 2012 (article ID 716235).
- 6. Bielsa S, Porcel JM, Castellote J, Mas E, Esquerda A, Light RW. Solving the Light's criteria misclassification rate of cardiac and hepatic transudates. Respirology 2012;17:721-6.
- Romero-Candeira S, Fernandez C, Martin C, Sanchez-Paya J, Hernandez L. Influence of diuretics on the concentration of proteins and other components of pleural transudates in patients with heart failure. Am J Med 2001;110:681-6.
- 8. Romero-Candeira S, Hernandez L, Romero-Brufao S, Orts D, Fernandez C, Martin C. Is it meaningful to use biochemical parameters to discriminate between transudative and exudative pleural effusions? Chest 2002;122:1524-9.
- Romero-Candeira S, Hernandez L. The separation of transudates and exudates with particular reference to the protein gradient. Opin Pulm Med 2004;10:283-7.
- Light RW. Pleural Diseases. Sixth edition. Philadelphia-USA: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins, a Wolters Kluwer business; 2013:p.86-127.
- 11. Light RW, Ball WC. Lactate dehydrogenase isoenzymes in pleural effusions. Am Rev Respir Dis 1973;108:660-4.
- 12. Heffner JE, Brown LK, Barbieri CA. Diagnostic value of tests that discriminate between exudative and transudative pleural effusions. Chest 1997;111:970-80.
- 13. Hamm H, Brohan U, Bohmer R, Missmahl HP. Cholesterol in pleural effusions. Chest 1987;92:296-302.
- 14. Burgess LJ, Maritz FJ, Frans Taljaard JJ. Comparative analysis of the biochemical parameters used to distinguish between pleural transudates and exudates. Chest 1995;107:1604-9.
- 15. Hamel AB, Yorgi KN, Bam N, Das SK, Karn R. Pleural fluid cholesterol in differantiating exudative and transudative pleural effusion. Pulm Med Hindawi 2013 article ID 135036.

- Wilcox ME, Chong CAKY, Stanbrook MB, Tricco AC, Wong C, Straus SE. Does this patient have an exudative pleural effusion? The rational clinical examination systematic review. JAMA 2014;311(23):2422-31.
- 17. Henry NL, Hayes DF. Cancer biomarkers. Mol Oncol 2012;6:140-6.
- 18. Porcel JM. Pleural effusions from congestive heart failure. Semin Respir Crit Care Med 2010;31689-697.
- 19. Roth BJ, O'Meara TF, Hal Cragun W. The serum-effusion albumin gradient in the evaluation of pleural effusions. Chest 1990;98:546-9.
- 20. Tarn AC, Lapworth R. Biochemical analysis of pleural fluid: what should we measure? Ann Clin Biochem 2001;38:311-22.
- 21. Porcel JM. Utilization of BNP and NT-proBNP in the diagnosis of pleural effusions due to heart failure. Curr Opin Pulm Med 2011;17:215-9.
- 22. Mohammed AA, Januzzi JL. Natriuretic peptides in the diagnosis and management of acute heart failure. Heart Fail Clin 2009;5:489-500.
- 23. Porcel JM, Vives M, Cao G, Esquerda A, Rubio M, Rivas MC. Measurement of pro-brain nacriuretic peptide in pleural fluid for the diagnosis of pleural effusions due to heart failure. Am J Med 2004;116:417-20.
- 24. Zhaou Q, Ye ZJ, Su Y, Zhang JC, Shi HZ. Diagnostic value of N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide for pleural effusion due to heart failure: a meta-analysis. Heart 2010;95(15):1207-11.
- 25. Yorgancioglu A, Alpaydin AO, Yaman N, Taneli F, Bayturan O, Cosgun AS ve ark. Serum and pleural fluid N-terminal-pro-B type natriuretic peptide concentrations in the differantial diagnosis of pleural effusions. Tuberk Toraks 2011;59(1):1-7.
- 26. Cincin A, Abul Y, Ozben B, Tanrikulu A, Topaloglu N, Ozgul G, et al. Pleural fluid amino-terminal brain natriuretic peptide in patients with pleural effusions. Respir Care 2013;58(2):313-9.
- 27. Liao H, Na MJ, Dikensoy O, Lane KB, Randal B, Light RW. The diagnostic value of pleural fluid NT-pro-BNP levels in patients with cardiovascular diseases. Respirology 2008;13:53-7.
- 28. Seyhan EC, Altin S, Cetinkaya E, Sokucu S, Gunluoglu MZ, Demir A, et al. The importance of pleural fluid and serum NT-proBNP levels in differentiating pleural effusion due to heart failure from other causes of effusion. Intern Med 2009;48(5):287-93.
- 29. Bayram M, Ozkan G, Oztekin E, Bakan ND, Acikmese B, Bes S, et al. Role of serum and pleural fluid NT-proBNP levels in identifying pleural effusion due to heart failure. Multidisciplinary Respiratory Medicine 2009;4(3):175-181.
- 30. Janda S and Swiston J. Diagnostic accuracy of pleural fluid NT-pro-BNP for pleural effusions of cardiac origin: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Pulmonary Medicine 2010;10:58.
- 31. Porcel JM, Chorda J, Cao G, Esquerda A, Ruiz-Gonzalez A, Vives M. Comparing serum and pleural fluid pro-brain natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP) levels with pleural-to-serum albumin gradient fort he identification of cardiac effusions misclassified by Light's criteria. Respirology 2007;12(5):654-9.

- Tomcsanyi J, Nagy E, Somloi M, Moldvay J, Bezzegh A, Bozsik B, et al. NT-brain natriuretic peptide levels in pleural fluid distinguish between pleural effusions due to heart failure. Am J Med 2004;116(6):417-20.
- Kolditz M, Halank M, Schiemanck S, Schmeisser A, Höffken G. High diagnostic accuracy of NT-pro-BNP for cardiac origin of pleural effusions. Eur Respir J 2006;28:144-50.
- 34. Porcel JM, Martinez-Alonso M, Cao G, Bielsa S, Sopena A, Esquerda A. Biomarkers of heart failure in pleural fluid. Chest 2009;136(3):671-7.
- 35. Long AC, O'Neal HR, Peng S, Lane KB, Light RW. Comparison of pleural fluid N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide and brain natriuretic-32 peptide levels. Chest 2010;137(6):1369-74.
- 36. Marinho FC, Vargas FS, Fabri J, Acencio M, Genofre EH, Antonangelo L, et al. Clinical usefulness of B-type natriuretic peptide in the diagnosis of pleural effusions due to heart failure. Respirology 2011;16(3):495-9.

- Porcel JM, Bielsa S, Morales-Rull JL, Civit C, Cao G, Light RW, et al. Comparison of pleural fluid NT-proBNP, MR-proANP and MR-proADM fort he diagnosis of cardiac effusions. Respirology 2013;18:540-5.
- Ozsu S, Gulsoy A, Karahan SC, Mentese A, Nuhoglu I, Ozlu T. Diagnostic value of pleural effusion ischaemia-modified albumin in patients with cardiac failure. Ann Clin Biochem 2011;48:45-50.
- Dikensoy O, Celik N, Kul S, Gogebakan B, Bayram H, Light RW. Ischemia modified albumin in the differential diagnosis of pleural effusions. Respir Med 2011;105(11):1712-7.
- 40. Ozsu S, Oztuna F, Mentese A, Abul Y, Ozlu T. Diagnostic value of suPAR in differentiating noncardiac pleural effusions from cardiac pleural effusions. Clin Respir 2016;10(1):61-6.

Original Article Eurasian Journal of Critical Care

Evaluation of Infants Undergoing Cranial Computed Tomography in the Emergency Department Due to Head Trauma

Ramazan Ünal¹, Dilek Atik², Bensu Bulut¹, Ahmet Erdur¹, Hasan Çam¹, Salih Fettahoğlu¹, Ramazan Güven¹, Başar Cander¹ ¹Sağlık Bilimleri Üniversitesi Kanuni Sultan Süleyman Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi, Acil Tıp Kliniği, İstanbul ²Yozgat Bozok Üniversitesi, Tıp Fakültesi, Acil Tıp Anabilim dalı, Yozgat

Abstract

Pediatric head trauma is one of the most important public health issues worldwide and is one of the most common causes of morbidity and mortality in this age group. In infants, trauma of the same severity with adults bring different outcomes as the body structure is different compared to adults. Imaging methods are frequently used in infants presenting with trauma, since children in the 0-2 age group cannot express themselves, their neurological examination is limited and families of infants cannot provide clear information about trauma. The best imaging method for trauma is cranial computed tomography (CCT). In this study, patients aged 0-2 years who applied to an emergency department of a training and research hospital in Istanbul between January 1, 2018 and January 31, 2018 were examined retrospectively. The aim of this study was to determine a clinical pathway by evaluating cranial computed tomography imagings of 0-2 year-old pediatric patients brought to the emergency department for head trauma. In our study, 523 patients aged 0-2 years were admitted for trauma between the specified time period and 166 of these patients underwent CCT. Of the patients who underwent CCT, 9% (n=15) were found to have pathology due to trauma. Ten of these patients underwent CCT. One of 15 patients was found to have bone fracture. The other 14 patients were suspected of contusion. Of the patients who underwent CCT, 3.1% (n=5) were admitted to the ward for follow-up. When the patients were evaluated in terms of clinical course, hospitalization or discharge in our study, they were found to correlate with pathologies detected on CCT. Due to the intensity of the patients in the emergency department, sufficient time cannot be allocated for the examination and informing of patients. It was observed that Cranial CT request frequency increased especially between 16: 00-00: 00 hours when emergency department intensity increased. In infant trauma patients, imaging studies should be determined considering the severity and mechanism of tra

Keywords: head trauma, infant, computed tomography, emergency department

Introduction

Head trauma is a trauma cause with high mortality and morbidity in developed and developing countries.Pediatric head trauma is one of the most important public health issues worldwide and is one of the most common causes of morbidity and mortality in this age group^{1,2}. Head trauma clinics exhibit mild to severe outcomes. Since the head region is like a closed box, diagnostic examinations are required in addition to neurological evaluations. In infants, trauma of the same severity with adults bring different outcomes as the body structure is different compared to adults. Although the incidence of intracranial pathology in children with head trauma varies between 3-5%, the incidence is slightly higher in infants^{3,4}. Imaging methods are frequently used in infants presenting with trauma, since children in the 0-2 age group cannot express themselves, their neurological examination is limited and families of infants cannot provide clear information about trauma. The best imaging method for trauma is cranial computed tomography (CCT)⁵. The aim of this study was to determine a clinical pathway by evaluating CCT imagings of 0-2 year-old pediatric patients brought to the emergency department for head trauma.

Materials and Methods

This study retrospectively analyzed patients aged 0-2 years who were admitted to the emergency department of Istanbul Health Sciences University, Kanuni Sultan Suleyman Training and Research Hospital for head trauma between January 1, 2018 and January 31, 2018 and underwent CCT. In this study, patients who were above 2 years of age and who did not have isolated head trauma and whose data were incomplete were excluded from the study as the exclusion criteria. As statistical analyses, compliance with the parametric test criteria was evaluated by performing normality test for all variables. Demographic analysis of the patients was determined by basic descriptive statistics. For correlations between the data, the Spearman's rank-order correlation was used in non-parametric data and the Pearson correlation in parametric data.

Results

In our study, 523 patients aged 0-2 years were admitted for trauma between the specified time period and 166 of these patients underwent CT. Of these patients, 89 (54%) were male and 77 (46%) were female. When the hours of admission to the emergency department were evaluated, of the patients, 32.5% (n=54) were admitted between 08:00-16:00 hours, 59% (n=98) between 16:01-00:00 hours, 8.4% (n=14) were admitted between 00:01-07:59 hours (Figure 1). When the admission types were evaluated, of the patients, 92.8% (n=154) were admitted as outpatient and 7.2% (n=12) were brought to the emergency department by ambulance. When the admission days of were evaluated, it was found that of the patients, 13.2% (n=22) were admitted on Monday, 19.2% (n=32) on Tuesday, 10.2% (n=17) on Wednesday, 11.4% (n=19) on Thursday, 13.8% (n=23) on Friday, 14.4% (n=24) on Saturday and 11.4% (n=19) were admitted on Sunday, respectively. Of the patients, 81.9% (n=136) were readmitted to the emergency department. Of the patients who underwent CCT, 9% (n=15) were found to have pathology due to trauma (Figure 2). Ten of these patients underwent follow-up CCT. One of 15 patients was found to have bone fracture. The other 14 patients were suspected of contusion. Of the patients who underwent CCT, 12.7% (n=21) were consulted with neurosurgery with clinical findings and CCT results. Of the patients who underwent



Hours of admission

Number of patients with pathology detected in cranial imaging





CCT, 3.1% (n=5) were admitted to the ward for follow-up and 96.9% (n=161) were discharged after examination and follow-up. Ten of the 15 patients who were found to have pathology were discharged after emergency department follow-up on consulting physician's recommendation. A total of 17 patients underwent follow-up CCT; although 7 of these had no pathology on their first CCT, follow-up CCT was considered necessary due to clinical suspicion during the emergency department follow-up. No pathology was visualized on follow-up CCT of these patients and they were discharged. It was found that mortality did not develop in any of the patients included in the study within the following 1 year. In our study, a moderate positive correlation was found in terms of the follow-up CCTs of the patients and the clinical course (r: 0.405, p=0.000). In our study, a moderate positive correlation was found in terms of performing consultation and the clinical course (r: 0.462, p=0.000).

Discussion

In the United States (USA), more than 500,000 children are admitted to emergency departments for head trauma each year^{1,6}. Head traumas account for the vast majority of childhood injuries^{7,8}. In a study conducted on adults, it was reported that young males in our country carry a high risk for head trauma^{9,10,11}. Since our study involves the 0-2 age range, the difference between genders is not seen in our study. In our study, the admission times and days of the infant patients presented with head trauma were analyzed and an intensity was observed between 16:00-00:00 hours. Patients presenting with trauma do not show difference between days of the week.

Computed tomography is preferred as the diagnostic examination for trauma cases to evaluate inside the head. Although the presence of subcutaneous hematoma in the head region under the age of 1 increases the likelihood of bone fracture, it is not clinically sufficient and radiological imaging is recommended in these patients^{12,13}. In some studies, the rate of ordering cranial CT as a diagnostic examination in children with head trauma varies between 5-50%⁹. In our study, the rate of cranial CT order was 31.7%, which is similar to previous studies. Especially in infants, CT-induced radiation exposure increases the risk of malignancies and associated mortality^{14,15}.In our study, the percentage of the patients presented with head trauma and found to have pathology was approximately 1%. The hospitalization percentage of the patients for follow-up is similar to previous studies¹⁶. In a study on head traumas, no surgical intervention was required for patients similarly to our study¹⁷. In the study by Da Dalt et al. on infant head trauma, there were patients with fatal outcome. This differs from our study. When the patients were evaluated in terms of clinical course, hospitalization or discharge in our study, they were found to correlate with pathologies detected on CCT.

Conclusion

The limitation of neurological examination in infant and pediatric traumas and inability to express themselves lead us to diagnostic imaging examinations in emergency departments. Due to the intensity of the patients in the emergency department, sufficient time cannot be allocated for the examination and informing of patients. However, the anxious attitude of infant families especially causes medico-legal concerns in physicians and forces the physician to work examination-weightedly. These concerns become more pronounced, especially during the hours when the intensity of emergency department increases. In our study, it is seen that CCT was ordered especially between 16:00-00:00 hours. In terms of ordering a diagnostic examination, a more selective attitude should be adopted for diseases that may further develop and it is thought that imaging examinations should be ordered considering the severity and mechanism of occurrence in infant traumas.

- Bowman SM, Bird TM, Aitken ME, Tilford JM. Trends in hospitalizations associated with pediatric traumatic brain injuries. Pediatrics 2008;122:988-93.
- Tabish A, Lone NA, Afzal WM, Salam A. The incidence and severity of injury in children hospitalised for traumatic brain injury in Kashmir. Injury 2006;37:410-5.

- Dietrich AM, Bowman MJ, Ginn-Pease ME, Kosnik E, King DR. Pediatric head injuries: can clinical factors reliably predict an abnormality on computed tomography? Ann Emerg Med 1993; 22: 1535-40.
- 4. Qauyle KS, Jaffe DM, Kuppermann N, Kaufman BA, Lee BC, Park TS, et al. Diagnostic testing for acute head injury in children: when are head computed tomography and skull radiographics indicated? Pediatrics.1997; 99: e11.
- Tintinalli J, Kelen GD, Stapczynski JS. Emergency Medicine, Comprehensive Study Guide. American Collage of Physicians. The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. Sixth edition, section 22, Pediatric trauma, P: 1545-6.
- Langlois JA, Rutland-Brown W, Thomas KE. Traumatic brain injury in the United States. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2006
- 7. Beaudin M, Saint-Vil D, Ouimet A, Mercier C, Crevier L. Clinical algorithm and resource use in the management of children with minor head trauma. J Pediatr Surg 2007; 42: 849-52.
- Savitsky EA, Votey SR. Current controversies in the management of minor pediatric head injuries. Am J Emerg Med 2000; 18: 96-101.
- 9. Langlois JA, Rutland-Brown W, Wald MM. The epidemiology and impact of traumatic brain injury: a brief overview. J Head Trauma Rehabil 2006;21:375-8.
- Ragnarsson KT. Traumatic brain injury research since the 1998 NIH Consensus Conference: accomplishments and unmet goals. J Head Trauma Rehabil 2006;21:379-87.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Statespecific prevalence of cigarette smoking among adults and quitting among persons aged 18-35 years--United States, 2006. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2007;56(38):993-6.
- Shane SA, Fuchs SM. Skull fractures in infants and predictors of associated intracranial injury. Pediatr Emerg Care 1997; 13: 198-203.
- Greenes DS, Schutzman SA. Clinical significance of scalp abnormalities in asymptomatic head-injured infants. Pediatr Emerg Care 2001; 17: 88-92.
- Brenner D, Elliston C, Hall E, Berdon W. Estimated risk of radiationinduced fatal cancer from pediatric CT. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2001; 176: 289-96.
- 15. Brenner DJ. Estimating cancer risks from pediatric CT: going from the qualitative to the quantitative. Pediatric Radiol 2002; 32: 228-31. [CrossRef]
- Köksal Ö, Özeren G, Yenice H, Çildir E. Is Cranial Computerized Tomography Really Necessary for Infants With Minor Head Trauma? JAEM 2011: 56-9
- Türedi S, Hasanbasoğlu A, Gündüz A, Yandı M. Clinical desicion instruments for CT scan in minor head trauma. J Emerg Med 2008; 34: 253-9.

Original Article Eurasian Journal of Critical Care

Investigation of the Efficacy of Aminoguanidine in an Experimental Rat Model with Isolated Bilateral Pulmonary Contusion Due To Blunt Thoracic Trauma

Dilek ATİK¹, Bengu SELİMAN², Derya Balcı KÖRÖĞLU³, Bensu BULUT⁴, Bahadır TAŞLIDERE⁵

¹Department of Emergency, Yozgat Bozok University, Yozgat, Turkey.

²Department of Emergency, Denizli Public Hospital, Denizli, Turkey

³Department of Thoracic Surgery, University of Health Sciences, Dıskapı Training and Research Hospital ,Ankara, Turkey ⁴Department of Emergenc , University of Health Sciences, Kanuni Sultan Süleyman Training and Research Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey. ⁵Department of Emergency, Bezmialem Vakif University, Istanbul, Turkey

Abstract

İntroduction: In severe thoracic trauma pulmonary contusions are almost inevitable are associated with high morbidity and mortality. In this study we aimed to evaluate the antioxidant activity of aminoguanidine in pulmonary contusion.

Method: Sixty-three Sprague-male rats were used. Sham and aminoguanidine groups were exposed to isolated blunt thoracic trauma with a force of 1,512 joules. Aminoguanidine was administered intraperitoneally at a dose of 100 mg/kg 3 hours before the trauma and on the 1. and 2. day after the trauma. The contusion group was exposed to blunt thoracic trauma only. In all groups, arterial blood gas analysis and catalase and NO levels were done on the 0th, 1st, 2nd and 3rd days.

Results: PO2 levels were higher in the sham group compared to the contusion group, without statistical significance. On the third day, SaO2 levels were higher in the AG group compared to the contusion group. SaO2 levels were comparable in the AG and sham groups on days 1, 2 and 3. There was no difference between the PaO2 levels of the contusion and sham groups on the 2nd and 3rd days. There was no difference between the PaO2 levels of the contusion and sham groups on the 2nd and 3rd days. There was no difference between the PaO2 levels of the AG and sham groups on the 1st, 2nd and 3rd days. We found no difference between the PaCO2 levels of the contusion and sham groups on the 0-3 days. There was no difference between the PaCO2 levels of the AG and sham groups on the 1st, 2nd and 3rd days. No difference was observed between the PaCO2 levels of the AG and contusion groups on the 1st, 2nd and 3rd days. No significant difference was found between the NO levels of the sham and the contusion groups on day 0. There was a significant difference between the sham and contusion groups on the 1st, 2nd and 3rd days. There was no statistically significant difference between the catalase enzyme activities of the sham and AG groups.

Conclusion: In our study, we showed that the use of aminoguanidine did not significantly reduce the severity of pulmonary contusion and the inflammatory reaction induced by thoracic trauma in rats.

Keywords: Blunt Thoracic Trauma, Aminoguanidine, Catalase activity

Introduction

Among all trauma cases, chest trauma is the third most common after head and neck and extremity traumas, respectively. It is the most common cause of death, especially in the first 4 decades of life. It occurs due to traffic accidents, occupational accidents, falls and assaults, and constitutes 25% of trauma-related deaths¹. The mortality rate of isolated chest trauma is 5,5%, but if an additional organ system is injured, this rate rises to 12-15%, and if there is multiple organ injury, it increases up to 30-35%². Pulmonary contusion is defined as trauma-induced alveolocapillary damage associated with overstretching or even rupture of alveoli, separation of alveoli from bronchioles, intraalveolar bleeding, and interstitial edema. Pulmonary contusion occurring in 30-75% of major thoracic trauma cases is a serious injury with high mortality and morbidity. It may be associated with various serious conditions ranging from simple dyspnea to respiratory failure requiring mechanical ventilation. Acute respiratory distress syndrome and multiple organ dysfunction may develop depending on the extent of the contusion³. Because the mortality rate of 11% in an isolated severe contusion increases to 22% in the presence of additional injuries. The incidence of ARDS is 17% in isolated contusions, but up to 78% with additional injuries. Pulmonary embolism and pneumonia are important factors that increase the mortality caused by pulmonary contusion. Pulmonary contusion involves an inflammatory process that occurs due to a mechanical damage, with a mechanism that is not fully known. Inflammatory response, and therefore, neutrophils, which are the major factors in endothelial / epithelial damage, are the most important factors determining prognosis⁴. Therefore, it is an issue open to the development of new treatment methods through further researches. In trauma-induced lung injury, gas exchange in bronchioles and alveoli is impaired, resulting in hypoxemia and hypercarbia. Leukocyte infiltration, production of inflammatory mediators, and free oxygen radicals have a significant role in the pathogenesis of this chain of events. Free oxygen radicals cause oxidative damage through lipid peroxidation, thereby disrupting the integrity of the cell membrane and increasing the permeability of the cells. The resulting hypoxia and hypovolemia may cause ischemia at the cellular level, resulting in necrosis. However, the formation of free oxygen radicals during reperfusion usually aggravates the tissue damage. Therefore, it is necessary to reduce the harmful effects of free radicals in patients with pulmonary contusion. In a healthy organism, the balance between the formation of free radicals and their elimination by antioxidants is called the oxidative balance. In animal models, antioxidant therapy has been shown to be beneficial against lung injury. Nitric oxide, which is effective in the inflammatory process, is synthesized from the amino acid L-arginine by the effect of nitric oxide synthetase. Nitric oxide (NO) synthesized from endothelium leads to pulmonary vasodilatation, reducing shunting in well ventilated lung regions, increasing oxygenation and decreasing pulmonary edema⁵. Expression of NOS in acute lung injury and inflammatory lesions of the colon has been shown to lead to overproduction of NO, resulting in the production of superoxide and peroxynitrite. The aminoguanidine, a nucleophilic hydralazine derivative from the biguanide group, inhibits nitric oxide synthase via its hydrazine group. It acts as an antioxidant to prevent the formation of reactive oxygen compounds and lipid peroxidation in cells and tissues, thus performing as a kind of free radical scavenger⁶⁻⁷. Catalase is an antioxidant enzyme found in peroxisomes within the cell. It catalyzes the reaction that converts hydrogen peroxide to water and oxygen. It oxidizes organic compounds such as phenol, formaldehyde and alcohol using H2O2, which is formed by the oxidation of glucose molecules during metabolism, especially in liver and kidney cells. Thus, toxic substances from the bloodstream are detoxified. Catalase exhibits its reducing activity on small molecules such as H2O2, methyl and ethyl hydroperoxides. It has no effect on lipid hydroperoxides which have large molecular structure⁸. One way of reducing tissue damage associated with

Table 1. SatO2, PaO2 (Blood gas) values between groups

NO and peroxynitrite is to inhibit the overproduction of NO by a specific inhibitor of iNOS, such as AG. The involvement of oxidative stress and inflammatory process in tissue damage induced us to investigate the effects of aminoguanidine on pulmonary contusion in an experimental rat model with isolated bilateral lung contusion due to blunt thoracic trauma. In the light of this information, our study aimed to reduce the endothelial / epithelial damage in lung contusion by suppressing the inflammatory mechanism and to investigate the effects of this reduction on mortality and morbidity.

Methods

The study was approved by the Animal Experiments Ethics Committee (14.05.2011) of the Hospital (2010/19) and used a total of 63 Sprague Dawley rats from Experimental Animal Production Laboratory. Before the experiment, the rats were kept in wire cages for 12 hours at night and 12 hours at daytime, in circadian rhythm at an ambient temperature of 20 to 26°C for 10 days. Twelve hours before the experiment, feeding was stopped, except for water. All rats were cared for in accordance with the principles of Care of Experimental Animals formed by the National Society for Medical Research (NSMR) and with the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals prepared by the Institute of Laboratory Animal Resources and published by the National Institute of Health. The groups were formed by randomly assigning 7 rats to each group (Table 1). Group 1 (Sham) (n = 7), subjected to blunt thoracic trauma and not given aminoguanidine. Group 2 (Control) (n = 7), not subjected to blunt thoracic trauma but given aminoguanidine. Group 3 (Contusion) (n = 28), subjected to pulmonary contusion by blunt thoracic trauma and given saline via intraperitoneal route. A total of four subgroups were created for the 0th, 1st, 2nd and 3rd days. Group 4 (Aminoguanidine) (n = 21),

Day	Sham	Contusion	Aminoguanidine	Aminoguanidine + control
SatO2				
0	94.85 (91.0-96.6)	65.03 (31-90)	-	90.51(84-96.6)
1	94.85 (91.0-96.6)	65 (32-89.1)	87.3 (78.1-95)	90.51(84-96.6)
2	94.85 (91.0-96.6)	77.27 (64.3-86.1)	81.48 (75-86.4)	90.51(84-96.6)
3	94.85 (91.0-96.6)	80.7 (71.8-83)	89.78 (84.5-96.8)	90.51(84-96.6)
PaO2				
0	81.98 (64.7-94.1)	47.03 (27.3-70.2)	-	75.17(53.7-85.7)
1	81.98 (64.7-94.1)	48.03 (27.3-71.2)	79.3 (57-104)	75.17(53.7-85.7)
2	81.98 (64.7-94.1)	67.17 (57.3-78.7)	61.94(55.2-77.4)	75.17(53.7-85.7)
3	81.98 (64.7-94.1)	65.25 (52-87)	72.88 (58-92.4)	75.17(53.7-85.7)

subjected to pulmonary contusion by blunt thoracic trauma and given aminoguanidine. A total of three subgroups were created for the 1st, 2nd and 3rd days. In the groups given aminoguanidine, the administration was performed by intraperitoneal route at a dose of 100 mg / kg 3 hours before the trauma. In the control and aminoguanidine groups, 100 mg / kg dose of aminoguanidine was continued on the 2nd and 3rd days. Rats which were fasted 12 hours prior to the procedure were anesthetized with 100 mg / kg xylazine and 10 mg / kg ketamine. The lexon platform was used to create pulmonary contusion through the effect transmitted to the thoracic wall by saving the sternum and heart. The rats were exposed to blunt thoracic trauma with a force of 1,512 joules, except for sham and control groups. After the trauma, 2 cc blood samples were taken from the abdominal aorta of 7 rats in contusion and sham groups under anesthesia. In these blood samples, it was aimed to determine the levels of PaO2, SaO2 and PCO2, and of catalase and malondialdehyde among oxidative stress parameters. On day 1, the sham group, 0th and 1st day subgroups of the contusion group and 1st day subgroup of the AG group were sacrificed. There are a total of 4 rats died on the 1st, 2nd and 3rd days. On day 2, administration of the drug continued in the remaining rats (not sacrificed). On the 2nd day, the 2nd day sub-groups of the contusion group and AG groups were subjected to the



Figure 1. Mechanism used for blunt thoracic trauma

procedures performed in the sham group and the 1st day subbgroup of the AG group. On the 3rd day, the 3rd day subgroups of the contusion group and AG groups were subjected to the procedures performed in the sham group and the 1st day subgroup of the AG group. The exploration revealed that the causes of death in the rats were pneumothorax, hemothorax, and cardiac tamponade (Figure 1, 2).

Blood samples were taken into EDTA-K3 anticoagulant tubes and centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 10 minutes. After centrifugation, the supernatant plasma was transferred to Eppendorf tubes and stored at -80 ° C until analysis. Plasma levels of NO and catalase were studied (Figure 3).

Statistical Analysis

Data were recorded in pre-prepared forms. The recorded data was numbered and transferred to the computer. Statistical analysis were performed using SPSS for Windows version 15.0. Median, minimum and maximum values of the groups were calculated. Intergroup comparison was performed by Kruskal-Wallis variance analysis. Chi-Square Test was used for intergroup comparison of categorical data. A p value of < 0.05 was considered significant.



Figure 2. System for collection of blood samples for serial blood gas and other studies in rats which were under anesthesia and underwent trauma.



Figure 3. Lung taken from the sham group after sacrification

Results

Evaluation of the SaO2 and PaO2 levels showed no difference between the Sham and AG groups on the 1st, 2nd and 3rd days, whereas a significant difference between sham and contusion groups on the 2nd and 3rd days (p < 0.05). There was no significant difference in the SaO2 levels of AG and contusion groups on the 1st and 2nd days (p > 0.05). The SaO2 levels of the AG group on day 3 were significantly different compared to the contusion group (p < 0.05). There was no statistically significant difference between paO2 levels of AG and contusion groups. No significant difference was found between the groups Sham and AG in terms of PaCO2 levels on the 1st, 2nd and 3rd days (p> 0.05). No significant difference was found between the sham and contusion groups in terms of PaCO2 levels on 0th and 1st days. Significant differences were found in paCO2 levels between the sham and contusion groups on the 2nd and 3rd days (p <0.05) (Table 1). No significant difference was found between the AG and the contusion groups in terms of paCO2 levels (p=0.05) (Table 2). No significant difference was found between the NO levels of the sham and the contusion groups on day 0. There was a significant difference between the sham and contusion groups on the 1st, 2nd and 3rd days (p < 0.05) (Table 2). We found a significant difference between the groups Sham and AG on the 1st and 2nd days, with no significant difference on the 3rd day (p> 0.05). No significant difference was found between the Sham and AG control groups on the 1st, 2nd and 3rd days (p > 0.05). Comparison of AG and contusion groups showed a decrease in NO levels in AG group, with no statistically significant difference (p>0.05). No significant difference was found between the AG and AG control groups in terms of NO levels (p> 0.05) (Table 3). No significant difference was found between the catalase enzyme activities of sham and contusion groups on all days (p > 0.05) (Table 3). There was no statistically significant difference between Sham and AG groups (p> 0.05). No significant difference was found between Sham and AG control groups (p > 0.05). The comparison of AG and contusion groups showed a significant increase in catalase enzyme activity on days 1 and 2 in AG group (p < 0.05), without significant difference on day 3 (p > 0.05). No significant difference was found between the AG and AG control groups in terms of catalase enzyme activity (p> 0.05) (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Hemothorax in rats died after contusion

Table 2	. Nitric	oxide	values	between	groups
---------	----------	-------	--------	---------	--------

Day	Sham	Contusion	Aminoguanidine + contusion	Aminoguanidine + control
0.	3.7(1.68-6.76)	8.58 (1.72-20.05)	-	3.06(0.35-4.6)
1.	3.7(1.68-6.76)	10.3(4.64-16,6)	5.25(1,6-10.68)	3.06(0.35-4.6)
2.	3.7(1.68-6.76)	9.77(2.6-11.6)	7.26(4.38-9.54)	3.06(0.35-4.6)
3.	3.7(1.68-6.76)	9.78(2.6-13.5)	4.32 (3.37-5.5)	3.06(0.35-4.6)

Table 3	. Nitric	oxide	values	between	groups
---------	----------	-------	--------	---------	--------

Day	Sham	Contusion	Aminoguanidine + Contusion	Aminoguanidine + control
0.	12.51(7.5-18.9)	12.16 (7.7-14.3)	-	11.4(6.8-15)
1.	12.51(7.5-18.9)	9.8 (7.42-10.8)	12.7 (9.5-14.7)	11.4(6.8-15)
2.	12.51(7.5-18.9)	9.28 (6.1-11.7)	11.6 (9.7-13.2)	11.4(6.8-15)
3.	12.51(7.5-18.9)	8.76 (5.6-11.6)	10.8 (9.6-13)	11.4(6.8-15)

Discussion

Trauma is one of the most common causes of death in the young adult population. Chest traumas, which usually occur as a result of traffic accidents, occupational accidents, assaults and falls, are the third most common after head and limb traumas.9 Pulmonary contusion can be seen in approximately 50% of patients with chest trauma, which is one of the most important factors that increase the mortality by adversely affecting the clinical course. It is important to investigate the preventable causes of death to reduce mortality from chest trauma seen predominantly in young adults. Secondary damage following a trauma causing pulmonary contusion involves oxidative stress, lipid peroxidation, and inflammatory response.^{10, 11} Oxidative stress is the deterioration of the physiological balance between the formation of free radicals and their elimination by antioxidants. Lipid peroxidation is the process of degradation of polyunsaturated fatty acids by oxidation. After this process, the resulting products can adversely affect the surrounding tissues. The effects of lipid peroxidation on the cell membrane are irreversible.¹² The presence of superoxide radicals (SORs) in the environment leads to the synthesis of NO and peroxynitrite and triggers lipid peroxidation. These released SORs can cause oxidative damage through lipid peroxidation.^{13, 14} Aminoguanidine is a compound that inhibits selectively and competitively inducible nitric oxide synthase and thereby causes reduced nitric oxide formation. This is an effective antioxidant and free radical scavenger. It prevents the formation of lipid peroxidation in cells and tissues.¹⁵ There are studies which have proven that aminoguanidine reduces both the inflammatory response and the degree of pulmonary injury.¹⁶ In a study, O. Soy et al. showed that initiation of aminoguanidine treatment (100mg / kg) immediately after the trauma prevented both nitric oxide production and lipid peroxidation and improved the functional status of animals.17 The administration of systemic antioxidant agents in intensive care patients with mechanical ventilator support reduced the plasma levels of lipid peroxidation products and the amount of mucus in the respiratory tract, resulting in better clinical results. In the present study, NO levels in the contusion group were significantly higher than the sham group. In addition, NO levels were lower in the aminoguanidine group compared to the contusion group. These elevated levels were attributed to trauma-induced alveolar capillary damage and subsequent ventilation/perfusion mismatch. No statistically significant difference was found between NO levels of aminoguanidine and contusion groups. In addition, there was no significant difference between NO levels of the sham and aminoguanidine control groups. In our study, it was found that CAT enzyme levels increased significantly in the contusion group compared to the Sham group. No significant difference was found between CAT enzyme activities of the contusion and AG groups (p > 0.05). In addition, there was no significant difference between CAT enzyme activities of the sham and AG control groups. The data obtained in our study were consistent with the literature and it was shown that aminoguanidine at a dose of 100 mg / kg might have protective effects against pulmonary damage mechanisms. We believe that it may be useful to carry out further studies with different doses to reveal the maximum efficacy of AG.¹⁸

In our study, we observed that the use of aminoguanidine in rats exposed to isolated pulmonary contusion by blunt trauma reduces the severity of pulmonary contusion and minimizes the inflammatory reaction.

Acknowledgement

This study was supported by a project (09.05.2011-23) from the project is supported by Diskapi education and research hospital. Ankara, Turkey.

Conflict of interest: None declared.

- 1. Byun CS, Park IH, Oh JH, Bae KS, Lee KH, Lee E. Epidemiology of trauma patients and analysis of 268 mortality cases: trends of a single center in Korea. Yonsei Med J 2015; 56: 220– 6
- Pehlivanlar Küçük M, Küçük AO, Aksoy İ, Aydın D, Ülger F. Prognostic evaluation of cases with thoracic trauma admitted to the intensive care unit: 10-year clinical outcomes. Ulus Travma Acil Cerrahi Derg 2019; 25(1): 46- 54.
- Alisha C, Gajanan G, Jyothi H. Risk Factors Affecting the Prognosis in Patients with Pulmonary Contusion Following Chest Trauma. J Clin Diagn Res 2015; 9(8): 17-9
- Rendeki S, Molnar. Pulmonary contusion. TFJ Thorac Dis 2019; 11:141-151.
- Rus A, Peinado MA, Castro L, Del Moral ML. Lung eNOS and iNOS are reoxygenation time-dependent upregulated after acute hypoxia. Anat Rec (Hoboken) 2010; 293(6): 1089- 98.
- 6. Kubes P, McCafferty DM. Nitric oxide and intestinal inflammation. Am J Med 2000; 109: 150- 58.
- 7. Nieves C Jr, Langkamp-Henken B. Arginine and immunity: a uniqueper spective. Biomed Pharmacother 2002; 56: 471-82
- Topcu K, Kırıcı DÖ, Evcil MS. Catalase activity in healthy and inflamed pulp tissues of permanent teeth in young people. Niger J Clin Pract 2016; 19(5): 600- 2
- 9. Tovar J.A., Vazquez J.J. Management of chest trauma in children. Paediatr. Respir. Rev 2013; 14: 86– 91
- Tignanelli CJ, Hemmila MR, Rogers MAM, Raghavendran K. Nationwide cohort study of independent risk factors for acute respiratory distress syndrome after trauma. Trauma Surg Acute Care Open 2019; 15; 4(1): 249.
- Durham RM, Moran JJ, Mazuski JE, Shapiro MJ, Baue AE, Flint LM. Multiple organ failure in trauma patients J Trauma 2003; 55: 608– 16

- 12. Akkuş I, Gültekin F, Aköz M, Çağlayan O, Bahçeci S, Can UG, Ay M, Gürel A. Effect of moderate alcohol intake on lipit peroxidation in plasma, erythrocyte and leukocyte and on some antioxidant enzymes. Clin Chim Acta 1997; 31: 266, 141-47
- Bayir H, Marion DW, Puccio AM, Wisniewski SR, Janesko KL, Clark RS, Kochanek PM. Marked gender effect on lipid peroxidation after severe traumatic brain injury in adult patients. J Neurotrauma. 2004; 21: 1– 8
- Scholpp J, Schubert JK, Miekisch W, Noeldge-Schomburg GF. Lipid peroxidation early after brain injury. J Neurotrauma. 2004; 21(6): 667-77.
- 15. Al Drees A, Salah Khalil M, Soliman M. Histological and Immunohistochemical Basis of the Effect of Aminoguanidine on

Renal Changes Associated with Hemorrhagic Shock in a Rat Model. Acta Histochem Cytochem. 2017; 28; 50(1): 11- 19.

- 16. Giri SN, Biring I, Nguyen T, et al. Abrogation of bleomycin-induced lung fibrosis by nitric oxide synthase inhibitor, aminoguanidine in mice. Nitric Oxide 2002; 7(2): 109- 18.
- 17. Jang AS, Choi IS, Lee S, et al. Nitric oxide metabolites in induced sputum; a marker of airway inflammation in asthmatic subjects. Clin Exp Allergy 1999; 29: 1139- 42.
- Krishnan R., Bruce A., Jadwiga D., Cristi J., Patricia M., James A., Paul R. A rat model of isolated bilateral lung contusion from blunt chest trauma. Anest analg. 2005; 1001: 1482-89.

A Rare Trauma Complication: Pneumopericardium

Ömür Uyanık¹, Muhammed Ekmekyapar², Hakan Oğuztürk¹, Şükrü Gürbüz¹, Ramazan Avcu² ¹Emergency Medicine Department, Faculty of Medicine, Inonu University, Malatya, Turkey ²Emergency Medicine Department, Malatya Education and Research Hospital, Malatya, Turkey

Abstract

Pneumopericardium is a rare condition that is defined as the presence of fre eair in the pericardial space. Although it is secondary to the most frequent traumatic or iatrogenic causes, it can rarely be seen spontaneously. A 32-year-old female patient was brought to our emergency service by 112 due to a car accident. Radiological imaging of the patient revealed spinous process fracture in thoracic vertebra (ninth thotacic vertebra), sacroiliac joint dissociation, iliac wing, pubis, ischium and femur diaphysis fracture. There was minimal free fluid under the spleen and the pelvis. Thorax tomography revealed multiple rib fractures and fractures in the left clavicle. In addition, wide spread contusion and hemopneumothorax were observed in the left lung. In addition, air density was determined in the pericardial space and mediastinum. Consultations were requested for the patient and the patient was admitted to the intensive care unit for further examination and treatment. Pneumopericardium can be defined as the presence of air in the pericardial space. In case of clinical suspicion for diagnosis of pneumopericardium, further investigation with thorax tomography and echocardiography is required. In the emergency services, which are the first referral places of multiple traumas, they should keep in mind the diagnosis of pneumopericardium in these patients, especially when chest trauma is accompanied by these patients.

Keywords: Trauma, emergency medicine, pneumopericardium

Introduction

Pneumopericardium is a rare condition that is defined as the presence of fre eair in the pericardial space¹. Although it is secondary to the most frequent traumatic or iatrogenic causes, it can rarely be seen spontaneously². It is usually associated with pneumothorax and pneumomediastinum after blunt chest trauma³. It often limits itself. However, it is a clinical diagnosis that should be considered in patients with blunt chest trauma because of the high mortality rate in case of accompanying tamponade findings⁴.

Case

A 32-year-old female patient was brought to our emergency service by 112 due to a car accident. There were no features in the patient's medical history. The patient had head, chest and pelvic trauma. The glaskow coma score was 13. In the vital parameters of the patient, blood pressure was 110/60 mmHg, pulse was 117 beats / min, respiratory rate was 22 / minute and fever was 36 °C. Her electrocardiography was consistent with sinüs tachycardia. Cardiovascular system examination showed heart sounds deep, no additional sound

or frotman was detected. There were no pathological findings except tachycardia. Respiratory examination showed a decrease in respiratory sounds in the left lung. His abdominal examination wascomfortable, there were no defenses or rebounds. There was tenderness in the pelvis and left femoral head. Hemoglobin level was 11.7 g / dL and hematocrit was 36%. Biochemical parameters were alanine aminotransferase 68 U/L and aspartate aminotransferase 148 U/L. After stabilizing the patient, radiological examinations were performed. Radiological imaging of the patient revealed spinous process fracture in thoracic vertebra (ninth thotacic vertebra), sacroiliac joint dissociation, iliac wing, pubis, ischium and femur diaphysis fracture. There was minimal free fluid under the spleen and the pelvis. Thorax tomography revealed multiple rib fractures and fractures in the left clavicle. In addition, wide spread contusion and hemopneumothorax were observed in the left lung. In addition, air density was determined in the pericardial space and mediastinum (Figure 1). Pneumomediastinum and pneumopericardium were considered. An emergency bedside echocardiography was performed. Although air density could not be selected clearly in echocardiography, there was no myocardial pathologic finding. Consultations were requested for the patient and the patient was admitted to the intensive care unit for further examination and treatment. In the intensive care follow-ups,

lung expansion was achieved with tube thoracostomy and no thoracotomy was performed, and tube thoracostomy was terminated. After stabilizing the general condition, the patient was operated for orthopedic fractures. Echocardiography did not revealany pathology. The patient was discharged from the intensive care unit after being stabilized.



Figure 1. Pneumopericardium together with pneumohemothorax and contusion in the left lung

Discussion

Pneumopericardium can be defined as the presence of air in the pericardial space. It is usually caused by blunt and penetrating trauma or iatrogenic causes. It may also ocur spontaneously². The air can pass through the perivascular sheath through a direct connection to the pericardial space, or through the congenital plevropericardial connection. Although it is usually a self-limiting condition, it may rarely be presented with tension pneumopericardium or tamponade⁵. Simple pneumopericardium may be introduced to the tension pneumopericardium by mask valve ventilation or positive pressure ventilation by mechanical ventilator⁶. Therefore, in patients diagnosed with simple pneumopericardium, follow-up is necessary for tamponade and tension pneumopericardium. The diagnosis of pneumopericardium is difficult. The use of plain radiography in the diagnosis of pneumopericardium is limited, only useful in demonstrating additional pathologies such as pneumothorax and hemothorax7. In case of clinical suspicion for diagnosis of pneumopericardium, further investigation with thorax tomography and echocardiography is required. Tomography is highly

sensitive to both the diagnosis of pneumopericardium and to show additional pathologies³. Simple pneumopericardium often limits itself and does not require treatment. Hypotension, tachycardia, deep heart sounds, electrocardiography findings in the presence of low voltage in the precordial leads should be thought of cardiac tamponade and if the diagnosis is made, emergency pericardiocentesis should be performed. Pericardial decompression and pericardial window drainage should be evaluated as definitive treatment³.

Conclusion

In the emergency services, which are the first referral places of multiple traumas, they should keep in mind the diagnosis of pneumopericardium in these patients, especially when chest trauma is accompanied by these patients. It should be noted that in cases such as hypotension and deep heart sounds, tamponade may be developed. Due to the risk of progression of simple pneumopericardium to the tamponade and tension pneumopericardium, these patients should be under cardiac follow-up in intensive care.

- Macgoey P. Schamm M. Degiannis E. Tension pneumo pericardium: case report. Turkish Journal of Trauma&Emergency Surgery 2010;16 (5):477-479
- Takahashi K, Nagao K, Momokawa T, Maruyama A, Fujita H, Ono S et al. Two cases of idiopathic pneumopericardium. Kokyu To Junkan 1991; 39: 95-7.
- Ladurner R, et al. Pneumopericardium in blunt chest trauma after high-speed motor vehicle accidents. Am J EmergMed. 2005 Jan;23(1):83-6
- Taupin JM, Laudinat JM, Fellinger F, Dickele MC, Lemaitre C, Elaerts J, et al. Spontaneous idiopathic pneumopericardium in young patients. Review of the literature. Apropos of a newcase. Ann Cardiol Angeiol 1992; 41: 485-8
- 5. Haan JM, Scalea TM. Tension pneumopericardium: a case reportand a review of the literature. AmSurg 2006;72:330-1.
- Levin S, Maldonado I, Rehm C, Ross S, Weiss RL. Cardiac tamponade with out pericardial effusion after blunt chest trauma. AmHeart J 1996;131:198-200.
- 7. Adams A, et al. A pictorial review of traumatic pericardial injuries. Insights Imaging. 2012 Aug;3(4):307-11.

Does A Potato Threat Your Life? A Case Study

Serkan Doğan, Bensu Bulut, Canan Akman, Zeynep Saral Öztürk, Ekim Sağlam Gürmen, Tarık Ocak, Başar Cander Sağlık Bilimleri Üniversitesi, Kanuni Sultan Süleyman Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi Acil Tıp Kliniği, İstanbul

Abstract

The mistakes on consuming the foods that are stored in improper conditions or that are kept longer than what it is supposed to be can cause some of the clinical symptoms from basic to life threatening ones. We present a case study of a 28 years old patient that came to our clinic with hemodynamic disturbance after eating green potatoes where he/she kept them in a storage to consume them in the winter season. Our discussion based on the fact that the formation of the Solanine toxin which is likely seen on the foods whose natural form changed can cause poison-ing.z

Keywords: Potatoes, Solanine, Poisoning

Introduction

Consuming the green surface of the potatoes that is formed by the germination is so harmful for the human health because of the toxic substance that is s called Solanine. The normal tuber contains only small amounts of solanine in the peel and none in the flesh. Solanine is initially de-veloped in the sprout of the potatoes, but eventually it can be detected in the flesh of the tuber so that concentration-gradient between the peel and the flesh is lost. Solanine is an inhibitor of ace-tylcholinesterase that blocks the breakdown of acetylcholine. Solanine poisoning displayed by gastrointestinal and neurological disorders. Symptoms include nausea, diarrhea, vomiting, stom-ach cramps, burning of the throat, headaches, and dizziness. Solanine is strongly offensive and corrosive to gastrointestinal mucosa, hence we should also consider the possibility of observing severe haemorrhagic ulceration of gastrointestinal system. Hallucinations, loss of sensation, and paralysis, fever, jaundice, mydriasis have been reported in more severe cases. We want to dis-cuss the case of the patient that came to our emergency room with the symptoms of acute hy-potension and high fever as a result of food poisoning.

Case

A 28 year of male patient were transferred to our clinic with food poisoning. He was poisoned in one to two hours after eating potatoes that he brought from his hometown for his dinner. He de-scribed the nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea. He was conscious and cooperative. His vital signs were: the blood pressure 100/70 mmHg, pulse 98 ppm, respiration rate 20 ppm, SpO2 96%, and his temperature was 37.1°C.

According to the patients physical examination the patient had a sensation on the epigastric re-gion, and he had a hyperactive intestinal peristaltic sound. The patient was hemodynamically stable. He was transferred to observation room, and then we established a vascular access for the fluid treatment, but in the next two hours the patients general situation was getting worse, it was observed the disorientation in his conscious and excessive sweating. To know the patient's vital signs he was monitored, and we observed that the patient's blood pressure 70/40 mmH, pulse 124 ppm, respiration rate 22 ppm, SpO2 97%, and his temperature was 39.8°C. The fluid treatment for hypotension was accelerated and 1gr paracetamol IV accompanied by periph-eral cooling were applied to drop his fever. Following this we called the national poisoning consul-tation center to enrolled the patients and to hear their suggestions. We were told that the patient likely was poisoned by solanine after eating green potatoes and they advised to monitor the patient in the next 24 hours. In the next four hours we observed that the patient hemodynamically stable:

His blood pressure 110/65 mmH, pulse 98 ppm, respiration rate 18 ppm, and his temperature was 37.4°C. The patient's blood test came normal, and following the 24 hours observation the patient's disorders was disappeared, therefore the patient was discharged from the hospital with a return condition after 24 hours.

Discussion

The most common cause of the food poisoning is the toxic substances produced by bacteria. Some of the bacteria are reproduce in millions when they find the necessary temperature, mois-ture, nutriment, and time. Potatoes that are stocked for winter-use are germinated when the tem-perature of the weather raise and when they found enough light and moisture. In our cases, the potatoes that are stocked for winter are germinated when they found necessary temperature, light, and moisture (figure 1). Therefore, the foods which are not in the natural form should not be consumed. Solanine is a toxic found in many food plants. It is formed in many food plants such as potatoes, tomatoes, eggplants, and grapes. It is rare to see its poisoning in literature, but the high doze of consumption might be very serious. When solanine consumed at 0.4-0.6 mg/kg, the symptoms of nausea and emesis may occur, and the lethal dose is 3-6 mg/kg. Even the Sola-nine poisoning cases have seen in history, it is very rare in nowadays. The reason of discussing this case is that we like to stress out the importance to know how to store the foods properly and not to consume the food plants that are not in their natural form as explained in our example.



Figure 1. Germinating potatoes

The case we encounter seemed at first a simple food poisoning, but on the advancing hours the patient's situation got worse that led us to examine the case in detail and later we knew that this was a serious food poisoning case. Therefore, food poisoning case should be investigated holis-tically in detailed by questioning the patient's stories, his vital signs, physical examination and so on.

Result

As emergency service physicians we should always consider the food poisoning cases serious-ly, even the first phase of the food poisoning related to green potatoes is monitored as a simple food poisoning later on the situation might turn out serious, hence it is advised to observe the patient 24 hours before discharge him/her from the hospital. It is also advised not to underesti-mate ant type of food poisonings, the food caused the poisoning should be investigated in terms of its characteristics.

To eliminate the food poisoning we should develop a social consciousness through educating the society about how and under which circumstances the toxic substances are formed on foods.

- Ayaz A, Yurttagül M. "Besinlerdeki Toksik Öğeler-1" Hacettepe University- Faculty of HealthSciences,Department of NutritionandDietetics. February-2008. ANKARA
- 2 http://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/ency/article/002875. htm
- 3 Hamer DH: IDCP guidelines. Infectiousdiarrhea (Part II) andfoodpoisoning. InfectDisClinPract1997;6:141-6.
- 4 Solaninepoisoning. BMJ 1979; 2 doi: http://dx.doi. org/10.1136/bmj.2.6203.1458-a (Published 08 December 1979) Citethis as: BMJ 1979;2:1458

Case Report Eurasian Journal of Critical Care

Periorbital Air Following Sneeze

Yağmur Gökhan Semerci¹, Cesareddin Dikmetaş¹, Ayla Köksal¹, Dilek Atik², Serkan Doğan¹, Duygu Yaman¹, Başar Cander¹ ¹Sağlık Bilimleri Üniversitesi Kanuni Sultan Süleyman Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi, Acil Tıp Kliniği, İstanbul ²Yozgat Bozok Üniversitesi, Tıp Fakültesi, Acil Tıp Anabilim dalı, Yozgat

Keywords: Emphysema, Periorbital Air, Snreze

Introduction

Presence of air in the orbit and periorbital tissues is called orbital emphysema¹. Frontalprocess of themaxillary bone, lacrymal bone andlateralwall of theethmoid bone (laminapaprycea) formsthemedialwall of theorbit. Maxillary sinus and frontal sinus are located adjacent to orbit base and orbit floor, respectively. Any possible defect on these bones causes orbital emphysema². Orbital emphysema usually appears within first 24 hours in fractures of paranasal sinus involving the orbital walls³. Spontaneous absorption of orbital emphysema which is a transient phenomenon occurs within two weeks⁴. Orbital emphysema resolves without sequel by spontaneous resolution; however, it may cause severe visual loss. Treatment approach includes observation, systemic cortisones, nasal decongestants and surgery when required^{5,6}.

The aim of this report was to present a case who developed periorbital emphysema following sneezing after an impact onto the nose.

Case 1

A 46-year old female patient referred Emergency Room (ER) around 3:00 p.m. due to swelling on the left eye. Medical history of the patient revealed that she was hit onto the nose by her child accidentally around 10 a.m. on the same day. The patient then squeezed her nose and closed her nostrils during sneezing around 1 p.m. She felt a blood clot on her hand; her left eye was swollen and she had temporary vision loss. Physical examination revealed that vital signs were stable, her left eye was swollen and closed due to edema, crepitation is detected on the left upper eyelid; her vision was normal and light reflex was positive when the eyelid is opened. According to the patient's maxillofacial computer tomography, free air densities on the left periorbital area and edematous appearance were detected; left nasolacrimal channel was prominent due to air (Figure 1). Consultation with otorhinolaryngology and ophthalmology was performed for the patient. Otorhinolaryngologistperformed an endoscopic examination and identified hemorrhagic spotting on the left meatus of the orbit; however, no bleeding was detected and monitoring on outpatient basis was recommended. Treatment of the patient was planned in consultation with otorhinolaryngology and ophthalmology clinics; she was advised not to blow her nose fast and to sneeze with open mouth. The patient was discharged at a stable state.

Case 2

A 45-year old male patient referred Emergency Room (ER) around 9:00 p.m. due to swelling on the left eye. It was learned from medical history of the patient that he hit his nose on the wall in the same day; he closed his nostrils during sneezing and his eyes swell. In the physical examination, vital signs were stable, left eye was swollen and closed due to edema; crepitation was detected on the left lower eyelid; the patient had normal vision when his eyelid was opened with a positive light reflex (Figure 2). Maxiofacial-computertomographyscan was performed; free air densities were detected in the left periorbital area and left maxillary sinus roof was detected broken (Figure 3). A consultation was performed with otorhinolaryngology and ophthalmology clinics. Both consultants recommended medical treatment and outpatient follow-up.



Figure 1. CT of Case 1

Discussion

The studies showed that intranasal pressure increases when mouth and nose are closed during sneezing. High pressure facilitates appearance of fractures of the bone which is defective as a result of chronic sinusitis⁷. Furthermore, fracture due to trauma on the bone line leads to air leak into the orbit; however, theairdoes not leavetheorbita⁸. Our cases developed the emphysema following sneezing after trauma to the nose. Jonathan et al.⁹ and Oba et al.¹⁰ presented traumatic periorbital cases similar to our cases. Levent Sahin¹ alsopresented a case with periorbital emphysema after nose blowing and the emphysema was drained in such case. Ophthalmologyclinicdid not recommenddrainageandsuggestedantibiotherapyandpolycliniccontrol. Oba et al.¹⁰ also did not performdrainageandarrangedthetreatmentbyantibiotherapy.

Conclusion

The eye has connections with many bones on the face including the connection with nose, nasal and lachrymal canals. Air may leak around the eye due to trauma after sneezing while the mouth is closed following any trauma onto the nose and other face regions. These patients may refer to the emergency room. Consequently, the emergency department physicians should be aware that such air has a benign progress and may be treated by antibiotics; they also should arrange consultations and follow-ups with ophthalmology clinics.



Figure 2. CT of Case 2



Figure 3. EYE of Case 2

- 1 Şahin L.HapşırırkenAğzınKapatılmasıSonrası Orbital AmfizemOlgusu.İnönüÜniversitesiSağlıkHizmetleriMeslekYüksekokuluDergisi, 2019; 7(1): 122-124.
- 2 Ord RA, Le May M, Duncan JG, Moos KF.Computerized tomography and B-scan ultrasonography in the diagnosis of fractures of themedial orbital wall. PlastReconstrSurg 1981;67(3):281-8.
- 3 Papadimitriou P, Ntomouchtsis A, Antoniades K. Delayed traumatic ocular emphysema: a case report. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral RadiolEndod 2006;102:e18-20.
- 4 Mohan B, Singh KP.Bilateralsubcutaneousemphysema of the orbits following nose blowing. J LaryngolOtol2001;115:319-20
- 5 Benharbit M, Karim A, Lazreq M, Mohcine Z.[Emergencytreatment of post-traumaticorbital emphysema: a case report]. J Fr Ophtalmol2003;26(9):957-9.

- 6 Silver HS, Fucci MJ, Flanagan JC, Lowry LD. Severe orbital infection as a complication of orbital fracture. ArchOtolaryngolHeadNeckSurg 1992;118(8):845-8.
- 7 Gwaltney JM JR, Hendley JO, Phillips CD, Bass CR, Mygind N, Winther B. Noseblowingpropelsnasalfluidintotheparanasalsinuses. ClinInfectDis, 2000; 30(2): 387-91.
- 8 Dobler AA, Nathenson AL, Cameron JD, Carpel ET, Janda AM, PedersonJE.Acase of orbital emphysema as an ocular emergency. Retina 1993; 13(2): 166-8.
- 9 Sheele, J.,& Lang, J. (2016).A Rare Case of TraumaticTension-Pneumo-orbitum.EmergMed, 48(8), 357-361.
- 10 Oba E.,PamukcuC,ErdenözS.Birol, travmatikorbitalamfizemlereyaklaşım.UlusTravmaAcilCerrahiDerg 2011;17 (6):570-572.

Bilateral Facial Paralysis Following Tooth Extraction

Dilek Atik², Cesareddin Dikmetaş¹, Ayla Köksal¹, Serkan Doğan¹, Ahmet Erdur¹, Başar Cander¹ ¹Sağlık Bilimleri Üniversitesi Kanuni Sultan Süleyman Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi, Acil Tıp Kliniği, İstanbul ²Yozgat Bozok Üniversitesi, Tıp Fakültesi, Acil Tıp Anabilim dalı, Yozgat

Keywords: Bell Palsy, Facial Paralysis, Tooth Extraction

Introduction

Anatomy and function of the facial nerve (FN) was first identified by Sir Charles Bell in 1800s¹. The facial nerve is the seventh of 12 cranial nerves innervating the muscles which control facial expressions and transmits the taste sense from oral cavity and two thirds of the posterior side of the tongue². Facial nerve palsy (FNP) may appear due to many reasons. Although possible reasons include genetic factors, vascular ischemia and inflammation due to a viral infection, autoimmune diseases, temporal bone fractures, head-neck tumors, central nervous system lesions, and etiology is still contradictory. Despite all reasons mentioned above, two third of FNPs has no reason and is called "idiopathic"^{3,4}.

Motor nuclei of the facial nerve on the pons are innervated by the motor cortex bilaterally; upper 1/3 of the face receives fibers from double innervated part of the nucleus on the pins whereas lower 2/3 of the face receives fibers from single innervated part. In consideration of this trace, there are two types of facial paralysis; facial and central facial paralysis^{5, 6, 7, 8, 9}.

We aimed to present a rare case with bilateral facial paralysis after tooth removal.

The Case

A 44-year old male patient referred emergency clinic because of numbness on both halves of the face and difficulty to close the eyelids. Medical history investigation revealed that the patient had removal of one of the teeth on the right mandible and he had pain and numbness on the chin 4 days before the referral. Past medical history of the patient was nonspecific. The following findings were obtained during physical examination at referral to the emergency clinic; overall state was well, arterial blood pressure was 130/80 mmHg, pulse was 95/min, body temperature was 36.5°C. Neurological examination of the patient revealed that the patient was conscious; he has cooperation and orientation; pupils were isochoric; light reflex was positive bilaterally; conjugated eye movements were liberated at four directions; eye squeezing was weak bilaterally; eyebrow elevation loss bilaterally; nasolabial sulcus was indistinct bilaterally; no neck stiffness was detected. Muscle strengths are complete, cerebellar tests are normal and no ataxia was detected. There was not any pathological finding in examination of the respiratory system, cardiovascular system and abdomen.

Blood tests were as follows; WBC: 12.12 10³/uL, Hb:15.8 g/dl, Plt:434 10³/uL, Urea:34 mg/dl, creatinine: 0.86 mg/dL, Na:137 mmol/L, K:3.9 mmol/L, AST:39 U/L, ALT: 16 U/L. Normal sinus rhythm existed in the ECG of the patient. Computed tomography of the brain was normal and there was not any pathology in diffusion magnetic resonance (MR) imaging. Neurology department was consulted for the patient. Contrast cranial MRI was taken by suggestion of the neurology department and there was not any pathology detected. Ear-nose-throat department was consulted for the patient. Ear-nose-throat department recommended 1 mg/day methylprednisolone with gradually decreasing doses. Ophthalmology department was consulted. Artificial tear was recommended. Neurology clinic was consulted again and follow-up in an advanced medical center and the patient was referred to a tertiary medical center for further treatment.

Discussion

Facial palsy is a clinical presentation of a paralysis which develops in two forms including peripheral and central due to dysfunction of seventh cranial nerve along the facial nerve; and treatment planning includes acceleration of the healing by cortisone, preventing corneal complications and other possible sequels and inhibition of viral replication, if any²:

The causes for peripheral facial palsy may be viral (HSV, VZV, CMV, EBV)^{5,6,8,9,10,11,12,13,14,15,16,17,18}. However, trauma such as dental treatment may cause the condition^{5, 6, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18}. Facial palsy usually appears unilaterally; bilateral form is rare. Sowmya et al.¹⁹ and Owsley et al.²⁰ reported unilateral facial palsy after tooth removal; however, such cases developed unilateral paralysis. The case presented here developed bilateral facial paralysis after tooth removal.

Kutluhan et al.²¹ and Akdag et al.²² reported cases with facial palsy due to bilateral otitis media and Melkersson-Rosenthal Syndrome, respectively. As is seen, bilateral facial palsy is rarely detected due to different causes. The cause presented in this case report was tooth removal.

Conclusion

Emergency medicine physicians should be aware that bilateral facial palsy may exist due to different underlying causes; and they should investigate the etiology during medical history taking.

It should be noted that traumatic procedures such as tooth removal may cause paralysis which is rarely bilateral; neurology and ear-nose-throat clinics should be consulted for investigation of the etiology and the patient should be referred to an advanced medical center for further research.

- Bayındır T, Tan M, Selimoğlu R: Diagnostic and Therapeutic Methods in Bell Paralysis ENT-Forum 2011;10(1)www. KBB-Forum.net..2011
- 2. Acarkan T, Nazlıkul H. Paralysis of the Facial Nerve Journal of Complementary Medicine, Regulation and Neural Therapy Volume 9, Number 1 : 2015
- 3. Adour KK. Current concepts in neurology: diagnosis and management of facial paralysis. N Engl J Med. 1982;307:348-51
- 4. Peitersen E. Bell's palsy: the spontaneous course of 2,500 peripheral facial nerve palsies of different etiologies. Acta Otolaryngol Suppl. 2002; 549:4-30.

- Angerer M, Pfadenhauer K, Stöhr M. Prognosis of facial palsy in Borrelia burgdorferi meningopolyradiculoneuritis. J Neurol 1993;240:319-321.
- Burmeister HP, Baltzer PA, Klingner CM, Pantel M, Kaiser WA. Computer und Magnetresonanztomographie des N. facialis. HNO 2010;58:433-442
- 7. Chen N, Zhou M, He L, Zhou D, Li N. Acupuncture for Bell's palsy. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2010;8:CD002914
- de Almeida JR, Al Khabori M, Guyatt GH, Witterick IJ, Lin VY, Nedzelski JM, Chen JM. Combined corticosteroid and antiviral treatment for Bell palsy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA 2009;302:985-93.
- 9. Kohler A, Choffl on M, Sztajzel R, Magistris MR. Cerebrospinal fluid in acute peripheral facial palsy. J Neurol 1999;246:165-169.
- Birkmann C, Bamborschke S, Halber M, Haupt WF. Bell's palsy: electrodiagnostics are not indicative of cerebrospinal fluid abnormalites. AnnOtol Rhinol Laryngol 2001;110:581-584.
- 11. Dosch M. Neurologie und Neuraltherapie. Freudenstädter Vorträge 1979; 6: 129-44.
- 12. Gilden DH. Bell's palsy. N Engl J Med 2004;351:1323-1331.
- 13. Heckmann JG, Heckmann SM, Lang CJ, Hummel T. Neurological aspects of taste disorders. Arch Neurol 2003;60:667-671.
- Hellebrand MC, Friebe-Hoff mann, Bender HG, Kojda G, Hoff mann TK. Das Mona-Lisa- Syndrom – die periphere Fazialisparese in der Schwangerschaft. Z Geburtsh Neonatol 2006;210:126-134.
- Hesse S, Werner C, Melzer I, Bardeleben A. Lidbeschwerung mit einem auf das Oberlid geklebten Bleiplätchen zur vorübergehenden Therapie des Lagophthalmus. Akt Neurol 2010;37:341-343.
- 16. House JW, Brackmann DE. Facial nerve grading system. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 1985;93:146-147.
- 17. Mamoli B. Zur Prognoseerstellung peripherer Fazialisparesen unter besonderer Berücksichtigung der Elektroneurographie. Wien Klin Wochenschr 1976;53:3-28.
- 18. Türk Börü Ü. Facial palsy BARNAT (Complemantary Medicine and Neural Therapy Journal) 3/ September/2007
- Sowmya GV, Manjunatha BS, Saurabh G, Mohit Pal S,, Madhusudan A.Facial Pain Followed with Unilateral Facial Palsy: A Case Report with Literature Review. Journal of Clinical and Diagnostic Research. 2014 Aug, Vol-8(8): ZD34-ZD35
- 20. Owsley D, Goldsmith JP. Bell's palsy following primary tooth extraction. A case report. N Y State Dent J. 2012 Apr;78(3):32-3.
- Kutluhan et al. Bilateral Facial Palsy Developed by 3-year Interval in Bilateral Chronic Otitis Media: A Case Report Van Medical Journal, Volume: 8, No: 1, January/2001:32-35
- Akdag et al. A rare cause for bilateral and repetitive facial palsy: Melkersson-Rosenthal syndrome. Dicle Med J Vol 42, No 1, 102-106.

Case Report Eurasian Journal of Critical Care

Post Ercp Perforation

Hasan Gökçe¹, Muhammed Ekmekyapar¹, Şükrü Gürbüz², Serdar Derya¹ ¹Emergency Medicine Department, Malatya Education and Research Hospital, Malatya, Turkey ²Emergency Medicine Department, Faculty of Medicine, Inonu University, Malatya, Turkey

Keywords: Abdominal pain, perforation, ERCP

Introduction

Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) is a commonly used method in the diagnosis and treatment of biliary and pancreatic duct diseases. Depending on the contrast agent and interventional procedures performed, serious complications such as pancreatitis, bleeding, cholangitis, perforation and sepsis can occur as much as 3-10%¹. Perforation is one of the most feared complications of endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography. Depending on the degree of perforation, medical treatment may be sufficient or surgical interventions may be required².

Case

A 90-year-old male patient was admitted to the emergency department with dyspnea. According to the anamnesis obtained from the patient, the patient's shortness of breath was long-lasting, but he had complaints of new onset abdominal pain. He had chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, coronary artery disease, and chronic renal failure. When the patient's anamnesis was deepened, it was learned that he underwent ERCP for choledocholithiasis 10 days ago. The vital parameters of the patient were 36.2° C, pulse 75 / min, TA: 113/6 mmHg, respiratory rate 20 / min, sPO: 99%. In the physical examination, the patient had severe pain in the right upper quadrant of the abdomen. Other system examination findings were normal. In the patient's hemogram, WBC: $20,7 * 10^{9} / L$ and creatinine were 2.35 mg / dL, but other biochemical parameters were normal. The CRP of the patient was15.8 mg / dL (normal range0.35). Abdominal ultrasonography was requested in accordance with physical examination and laboratory values. The patient's abdominal ultrasonography revealed that the gall bladder was of normal size, wall thickness and echo were normal, and a large number of Stone echoes and common bile duct dilated (7 mm). Then the patient with CRF was asked for non-contrast abdominal CT. Non-contrast abdominal CT revealed suspicious free air densities in the paraduodenal area and was first evaluated in favor of intra-retroperitoneal abscess secondary to duodenum perforation (Figure-1). The patient was referred to the general surgery intensive care unit.



Figure 1. Intra-retro peritoneal abscess secondary to duodenum perforation

Discussion

The diagnosis of duodenal perforation after ERCP is generally based on physical examination findings, fluroscopic imaging and in some cases by computed tomography imaging². Treatment of these perforations is still controversial³. The general principles of treatment include discontinuation of the patient's oral intake, administration of nasogastric catheter and initiation of iv antibiotherapy. Stapfer classification is currently used in the selection of patients to undergo surgery⁴. According to this classification;

- Type I: Free bowel wall perforation
- Type II: Retroperitoneal duodenal perforation secondary to periampullary injury
- Type III: Perforation of the pancreas or bile duct
- Type IV: Retroperitoneal air only

Among these, the most common type is II. Among these groups, the most common type 1 and type 2 injuries are surgically treated and conservative treatment methods are preferred in most patients4-8. However, it requires careful observation and early surgical consultation, as the result may be poor in patients who are unable to receive fast and appropriate treatment. In addition to the type of injury, the age, concomitant diseases, previous surgery and medical history of the patient are also must considered. The prognosis of patients with perforation depends on the rate of recognition, clinical structure and patient comorbidities9-11. Our case was also evaluated as type 2 injury. When the patient's current medical condition, delay in diagnosis and type of injury were taken into consideration, medical treatment decision was made and the patient was taken to intensive care follow-up.

Conclusion

Perforation should be kept in mind in patients with abdominal pain starting with endoscopy and ERCP. A careful history and physical examination in emergency departments can be diagnosed by direct radiography and computed tomography. Most of the cases diagnosed early can be followed by conservative treatment. Delayed diagnosis and treatment may have adverse consequences such as sepsis and death, so early surgical consultation should be sought.

- Freeman ML, Nelson DB, Sherman S, et al. Complications of endoscopic biliary sphincterotomy. N Engl J Med, 1996; 335: 909-918.
- Enns R, Eloubeidi MA, Mergener K, et al. ERCP-relatedperforations: risk factors and management Endoscopy 2002; 34:293.
- Chung RS, Sivak MV, Ferguson DR. Surgical decisions in the management of duodenal per-foration complicating endoscopic sphincter-otomy. Am J Surg, 1993; 165: 700-703.
- 4. Stapfer M, Selby RR, Stain SC, et al. Management of duodenal perforation after endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography and sphincterotomy. AnnSurg 2000; 232:191.
- Wu HM, Dixon E, May GR, Sutherland FR. Management of perforation after endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP): a population-based review. HPB (Oxford) 2006; 8:393.
- 6. Fatima J, Baron TH, Topazian MD, et al. Pancreaticobiliary and duodenal perforations after periampullary endoscopic procedures: diagnosis and management. ArchSurg 2007; 142:448.
- Morgan KA, Fontenot BB, Ruddy JM, et al. Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography gut perforations: when to wait! When to operate! AmSurg 2009; 75:477.
- Assalia A, Suissa A, Ilivitzki A, et al. Validity of clinical criteria in the management of endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography related duodenal perforations. ArchSurg 2007; 142:1059.
- Howard TJ, Tan T, Lehman GA, et al. Classification and management of perforations complicating endoscopic sphincterotomy. Surgery 1999; 126:658.
- Chaudhary A, Aranya RC. Surgery in perforation after endoscopic sphincterotomy: sooner, later or not at all? Ann R Coll Surg Engl 1996; 78:206.
- 11. Chung RS, Sivak MV, Ferguson DR. Surgical decisions in the management of duodenal perforation complicating endoscopic sphincterotomy. Am J Surg 1993; 165:700.